
 

 
 

 

 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Monday 3 November 2014 at 7.00 pm 
Boardrooms 3, 4 and 5 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers 
Way, Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 
 
Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 
 

A Choudry (Chair) 
Colwill (Vice-Chair) 
Allie 
Daly 
W Mitchell Murray 
Oladapo 
Southwood 
Van Kalwala 
 

Agha, J Mitchell Murray, Nerva, RS Patel, Ketan Sheth, 
Stopp and Thomas 
 
Councillors: 
 

Kansagra and BM Patel 

Co-opted Members 
Ms Christine Cargill 
Mr Alloysius Frederick 
Mrs Hawra Imame 
Dr J Levison 
Vacancy 
Vacancy 
 
 
Observers 
Ms J Cooper 
Mrs L Gouldbourne 
Ms C Jolinon 
Brent Youth Parliament representatives 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

For further information contact: Toby Howes, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
020 8937 1307, toby.howes@brent.gov.uk 
 
For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

www.brent.gov.uk/committees 
 
 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting 
 



 

3 
 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members. 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Declarations of interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
financial or other interest in the items on this agenda. 
 

 

2 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 October 2014  
 

1 - 10 

 The minutes are attached. 
 

 

4 Matters arising  
 

 

5 Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategy consultation  
 

11 - 34 

 The emerging Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategy (2015 -2020) is 
a strategy for the borough, not just the council. This will be the first time a 
strategy for this area has been formed. The strategy is designed to be an 
active vision for the borough and will be accompanied by a live Action 
Plan, detailing how the vision and strategic objectives will be achieved. 
 

 

6 Overall impact of the Benefit Cap in Brent after one year of 
implementation  

 

 

 This presentation will cover the overall impact of the Benefit Cap since its 
implementation in August 2013, including an overview of significant 
equalities impacts, and the mitigation of its effect on claimants via 
employment and housing solutions. 
 

 

7 Promoting electoral engagement (IER) task group  
 

35 - 60 

 This report brings to the Scrutiny Committee an interim report with 
findings and recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee’s task group 
investigation on how to promote electoral engagement in light of the 
change to Individual Electoral Registration (IER). 
 
 

 



 

4 
 

8 Scrutiny Committee forward plan  
 

61 - 64 

 The current Scrutiny Committee forward plan is attached. 
 

 

9 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Democratic Services Manager or his representative before the 
meeting in accordance with Standing Order 64. 
 

 

 
Date of the next meeting:  Wednesday 26 November 2014 
 

� Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 
• The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public. 
 

 



 

 

 
MINUTES OF THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Wednesday 1 October 2014 at 7.00 pm 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillor A Choudry (Chair), Councillor Colwill (Vice Chair) and Councillors 
Allie, Daly, W Mitchell Murray, Oladapo, R Patel (substitute for Councillor Van Kalwala) 
and Southwood, together with Ms Christine Cargill, Mr Alloysius Frederick and Dr J 
Levison 
 

  
Also Present: Councillors Butt, Filson, Harrison, Hector, Mashari, Pavey and Perrin 

 
Apologies were received from: Councillor Van Kalwala, co-opted Member Mrs Hawra 
Imame and appointed observers Jenny Cooper, Chrissy Jolinon and Lesley Gouldbourne  
 

 
 

1. Declarations of interests  
 
None declared. 
 

2. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 9 September 2014  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 9 September 2014 be approved as 
an accurate record of the meeting. 
 
Councillor Daly commented that her question regarding duty of candour and the 
response to it in respect of item 5, ‘Closure of A&E at Central Middlesex Hospital’, 
had not been recorded, however she would raise the same question at this 
meeting. 
 

3. Matters arising  
 
None. 
 

4. North West London Hospitals Trust Care Quality Commission inspection 
compliance action plan  
 
Chris Pocklington (Deputy Chief Executive, North West London Hospitals Trust) 
presented the report which set out the action plan that had been produced as a 
result of the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) inspection in May 2014.  Members 
heard that a Quality Summit at Northwick Park Hospital (NPH) had taken place in 
August 2014 between the Trust and partner organisations and had been chaired by 
the CQC in order to identify what suitable measures should be included in the 
action plan.  The action plan had been presented to the Trust’s Board the previous 
week and had been approved.  Against each recommendation made by the CQC, 
details of the action to address this were included and with a deadline for 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 

2 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

completion.  Chris Pockington advised that progress on the action plan would be 
regularly reported to the Board and it was anticipated that there would be a follow 
up inspection from the CQC to see what action had been taken to address the 
issues raised in the first inspection.   
 
During discussion by members, it was queried whether a more detailed report on 
the action plan would be produced in future.  A member expressed concern about 
risks to the health of local residents and asked whether there had been a reduction 
in the number of nurses at NPH when the inspection had taken place in May.  She 
sought confirmation as to whether there had been a freeze in staffing numbers at 
the Accident and Emergency Unit (A&E) at NPH and if so for what length of time.  
The current number of nurses and GPs in A&E at NHP and the vacancy rate was 
requested.  The member referred to a £3 million reduction in staff budgeting for 
doctors in nurses and the impact in terms of safety this would have in respect of the 
CQC inspection report.  The member sought clarification that there were in fact ten 
less beds overall within the North West London Hospitals Trust (NWLHT) than there 
were a month ago.  She also referred to the duty of candour the Trust was required 
to provide to the committee in respect of members being told that the modelling for 
patient numbers for NPH after the A&E closure at CMH was apparently inaccurate 
and she emphasised the need for the committee to receive accurate information.   
 
A member referred to the action plan and asked what steps were being explored in 
helping to retain existing staff and had the reasons for staff leaving been identified.  
He also enquired whether retention of staff was a performance indicator for NPH.  
Another member remarked that waiting times at NPH had risen to crisis levels since 
the closure of the A&E at CMH and asked what measures were planned to address 
this, particularly as winter would shortly arrive.  A member asked for further 
information on plans in respect of major emergencies and emphasised the 
importance of ensuring key roads were open as is this had been an issue, for 
example, during the 7 July 2005 London bombing incidents. He also asked whether 
the planned additional beds at NPH had happened and if so how many. The 
committee sort views with regard to the progress made since the CQC inspection 
and how confident was the Trust that the action plan would achieve the objectives 
and within the timescales set.   
 
With the approval of the Chair, Councillor Hector addressed the committee.  
Councillor Hector stated that she had been provided with conflicting information on 
the number of beds at NPH and she asked that the number be clarified. 
 
In reply to the issues raised, Chris Pockington informed members that a more 
detailed report on the action plan would be reported to the Trust’s Board in October 
and this could also be provided to the committee.  He stated that he would seek 
information on numbers of staff at NPH, including it’s A&E, since the closure of the 
A&E at CMH, however he confirmed that the number of nurse vacancies at NPH 
had reduced significantly.  He was unaware of any decision to freeze the number of 
staff at NPH A&E and of a £3 million reduction in budget for doctors and nurses and 
there had been ongoing recruitment at the NPH, including its A&E, since the CMH 
A&E closure.  Members heard that the Board’s Trust regularly reviewed the rate of 
staff turnover and a high rate was one of the challenges the NPH faced and it 
indicated that not all was as it should be.  Chris Pockington stated that increasing 
the number of established staff would make it more attractive for them to remain 
and there had also been a recent successful recruitment drive for appointing full 

Page 2



 

3 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

time medical consultants.  He confirmed that staff turnover was a performance 
indicator and the Board was provided information on this as part of the employment 
data that they regularly received.   
 
Chris Pockington advised that the Board was fully aware of issues regarding patient 
waiting times at NPH.  He informed members that this was attributable to a number 
of reasons, including the fact that there were more ambulances visiting NPH since 
the A&E closure at CMH than the modelling exercise had anticipated.  NPH was 
also not able to discharge patients as quickly as would be desirable and there were 
also less staff available for diagnosis at weekends, although the Trust would be 
taking steps to address this.  NHP faced additional pressures in the growing 
number of older people in the population and patients who required greater 
attention.  However, steps were being taken to address these issues and changes 
to the system in respect of ambulance arrivals had produced noticeable 
improvements in the last four days, with less arrivals and a reduction in the number 
of delayed transfers.  Senior staff were involved in daily conference calls to discuss 
solutions to the problems identified and a concerted effort was being made by all 
staff to put together actions to address the issues identified.  Chris Pockington 
added that NPH did not currently have sufficient beds to deal with the volume of 
patients it was receiving and a business case was being put together for increasing 
capacity in acute wards by autumn 2015.  Once this could be achieved, NPH would 
be able to operate at a lower level of occupation and would be better equipped to 
provide services.  Chris Pockington confirmed that 20 new beds had opened at 
NPH on 10 September and there were now a total of 760 beds occupied at 94% 
rate, whilst beds in the A&E department were close to 100% occupancy.  Patient 
capacity outside of hospitals was similarly important and would help facilitate a 
more effective and efficient system of healthcare.  Chris Pockington stated that he 
could not clarify whether there were less beds overall within the Trust than had 
been the month before, however patients at CMH tended to stay longer than others 
within the Trust and the hospital had seen a net increase of 20 beds.  He advised 
that the issue of bed capacity was complex and could not be based purely on 
numbers, however he indicated that he could present the modelling in respect of 
bed provision to members.  He added that whilst he would be happy to provide a 
greater level of detail to members on particular issues at future meetings providing 
he was sent substantive queries in advance of the meeting.   
 
Professor Ursula Gallagher (Brent Clinical Commissioning Group) confirmed that all 
but two of the nurses who had worked at CMH A&E were now at NPH, with the 
other two remaining at CMH and there had been little external recruitment to protect 
existing staff who had worked at CMH A&E.  She explained that the purpose of 
expanding the healthcare hubs was to ensure appropriate community provision and 
overall there were more beds now than there were within the Trust the previous 
year.  Professor Ursula Gallagher emphasised the need for rigorous decision-
making to ensure patients were dealt with promptly.  In respect of major 
emergencies, she advised that the CCG’s System Resilience Group were 
responsible for creating a system resilience plan.  All hospitals trusts in London 
were working hard to ensure there was appropriate flexibility and capacity in major 
emergencies.  In addition, NHS England coordinates plans for wide scale 
emergencies and undertook ‘dry runs’ using various scenarios and a multi-agency 
approach was taken to manage such situations.   
 

Page 3



 

4 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

Dr Ethie Kong (Chair, Brent CCG) added that organisations working in isolation was 
not the answer to responding to major emergencies and this is why the System 
Resilience Group involved both acute, primary and community healthcare providers 
and London ambulances.  She was also confident that targets in the action plan 
would be achieved in the timescales set.   
 
Councillor Daly emphasised that all Brent CCG papers for Scrutiny Committee 
members should be publically available and she requested that a representative 
from the Care Quality Commission be in attendance the next time this item was 
discussed. 
 
The Chair requested that a report be presented to the committee in about two 
months’ time updating them on progress with the action plan, including whether the 
measures listed were on target to be achieved within deadlines set.  In addition, any 
members who had questions requiring specific details were to submit these to 
Cathy Tyson (Head of Policy and Scrutiny, Assistant Chief Executive Service) who 
coordinate responses from NWLHT.  
 

5. Local Safeguarding Children Board annual report  
 
Chris Spencer (Independent Chair, Brent Local Safeguarding Children Board) 
presented the annual report and advised that the Brent Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) consisted of statutory partners, such as health 
representatives, the police and the council, and other non-statutory organisations, 
such as those from the voluntary sector and schools.  The LSCB met approximately 
every six weeks and considered reports on a range of issues identified in its 
business plan based on priorities agreed as a result of local and national drivers 
influenced by the key safeguarding priorities of partner agencies.  This involved 
creating a number of work streams and sub-groups to address these priorities and 
Chris Spencer drew members’ attention to the seven sub-groups as set out in the 
report. 
 
During members’ discussion, further details of the background of the Chair of the 
LSCB were sought.  A member commented that the report did not provide a 
particularly clear picture of child wellbeing and welfare and safety in Brent.  She felt 
the report lacked comparative statistics with other London boroughs and 
information on the pressure on school places in Brent.  She also stated that there 
was no information on child suicides, the growing use of food bags and the number 
of children at risk in the borough and she hoped for more detail in future reports.  
Another member enquired how effective was Brent at early intervention compared 
to other boroughs and she sought views on what level of support young people who 
had been placed outside the borough received.  A number of children in Brent also 
lived in poverty and she enquired how the LSCB oversaw a multi-agency approach 
in addressing this.  A member sought further information regarding unexpected 
deaths including the causes and what steps were being taken to address this.  He 
felt that this was an issue worthy of further scrutiny and the next report should 
provide more detail on this.   
 
Another member asked whether the LSCB’s role extended to analysing whether 
there was a sufficient budget to undertake all the priorities that had been agreed.  In 
view of the need for savings to be made and the resulting pressures this would 
create, such as social worker caseloads, he asked whether safeguarding measures 

Page 4



 

5 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

were robust enough.  A member emphasised the importance of early intervention 
where children were not doing well at school, for example in identifying dyslexia, in 
order to ensure they had a good education which was vital to their future.  A 
member sought clarification that the LSCB currently had a vacancy for the position 
of second lay member and in respect of an apparent dispute over payments 
between the LSCB and the NWLHT.  She also asked whether she could be 
provided with a copy of the Section 11 audit report in respect of NPH.  Another 
member enquired what steps were being taken to combat trafficked children in the 
borough.   
 
With the approval of the Chair, Anna Tulley addressed the committee.  Anna Tulley 
advised that she worked for a disabled childcare charity and stated that she was 
aware of a case regarding safeguarding issues where finding help proved fruitless.  
She sought further information in respect of the Task and Finish group for 
safeguarding disabled children as mentioned in the report. 
 
 
In reply to the issues raised, Chris Spencer informed members that he had been a 
director of education and children’s services since 2000, including holding two 
substantive posts and an interim role with another London borough.  Since 2011, 
he had chaired two West Midlands Improvement Boards  and also advised the 
Home Office.  In respect of the detail in the report, Chris Spencer advised that the 
LSBC’s role was to support and challenge the work of the partner organisations and 
the LSBC received all the specific data on issues such as child suicides, school 
places and use of food bags in order to undertake analysis.  The results of the 
analysis would help steer the direction in providing a strategic oversight.  The 
committee heard that the services offered in the borough were crucial to the 
process of managing risk for children and Chris Spencer emphasised how crucial 
the role of early intervention was.  He advised that a recent review on early 
intervention had been reported to the LSBC and it had been identified that there 
was room to develop services, however the role of non-statutory organisations and 
budget pressures needed to be resolved in order for this to happen.  There was a 
strong argument and evidence for early intervention measures being of particular 
importance in the borough and it was thought that through commissioning, such 
services could be improved.  Chris Spencer advised that the trend was not to place 
young vulnerable people far from Brent.  At present, approximately 20 were 
currently outside of the borough and in such circumstances these children needed 
to be visited frequently by Children’s Services.  However, he added that sometimes 
there were very sound reasons to place children outside of Brent.  With regard to 
tackling child poverty, Chris Spencer commented that the situation in Brent was 
highly complex, with a wide range of vulnerabilities and this enhanced the level of 
poverty.  He felt that the most reliable way of preventing poverty was good 
education and early intervention and the children’s centres played a vital role in 
achieving this. 
 
Chris Spencer advised that the Child Death Overview Panel, a sub-group of the 
LSBC, investigated causes of child death and measures to prevent this and a report 
was provided separately to the Health and Wellbeing Board, although this could 
also be provided to the committee.  Members noted that child deaths were not 
necessarily due to abuse.  Chris Spencer advised that the LSBC did consider 
budget and their potential effects on capacity and in a recent serious case review, a 
shortfall in frontline staff practice had been identified.  As well as a lack of capacity, 

Page 5



 

6 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

such problems may be attributable to lack of training or the right messages being 
communicated clearly enough.  In his view, Chris Spencer felt that although 
capacity was stretched, there was no evidence to suggest that this presented 
unacceptable risks, although caseloads for social workers were higher overall 
compared to most London boroughs.  He added that in some situations the number 
of caseloads may be artificially inflated if they had not been formally closed when 
they should have been and this has been an issue in Brent, although action was 
being taken to address this and there had been some progress.  Members noted 
that in order to get a good inspection outcome, the number of caseloads needed to 
be reduced.   
 
Chris Spencer stated that Brent schools faced challenging circumstances, however 
good head teachers and teaching would help overcome this and there was 
considerable effort being made to raise educational standards.  He confirmed that 
the second lay position on the LSBC had been filled on 20 January 2014 and that 
NPH had been informed that they were not making a sufficient financial contribution 
to the Board, but this had since been rectified.  The committee also heard that a 
Section 11 audit had identified some shortcomings around safeguarding for the 
NPH and an action plan to address these had been produced and Chris Spencer 
was to check if this could be provided to members.  The committee heard that the 
Vulnerable Groups sub-group looked at priorities in respect of vulnerable children 
and trafficked children would be included in next year’s plan, with bespoke training 
courses being provided for staff of relevant partner organisations.  Chris Spencer 
advised that the safeguarding of disabled children was high on the LSCB’s agenda 
as they were a particularly vulnerable group.  In respect of the Task and Finish 
group, he clarified that the Child to Adult Services covered this area. 
 
Gail Tolley (Strategic Director of Children and Young People) added that a Scrutiny 
Committee task group had been set up in respect of the Pupil Premium which 
through engagement with the Brent Schools Partnership was contributing to 
schools with a good or outstanding rating increasing.   
 
The Chair stated that a briefing note updating the work of the task group on the 
Pupil Premium would be provided to members.  He emphasised the importance of 
safeguarding children and welcomed the report. 
 

6. Draft school places strategy  
 
Sara Williams (Operational Director – Early Help and Education, Children and 
Young People) gave a presentation on the draft school places strategy.  She began 
by stating that consultation on the strategy had started in March 2014. The strategy 
needed to take into account a number of challenges that the borough faced, such 
as the rise in demand for school places, including a 38% increase in under five year 
olds in the last ten years, increasing population density and limited supply of land 
and changing composition of the borough.  Members noted the aspirations for Brent 
schools and school expansion would only take place with good or outstanding 
schools where leadership was secure.  The council was to establish a joint body 
with schools to oversee school place planning and school organisation.  An initiative 
in helping pupils stay close to home was also proposed both for primary and 
secondary schools.  Admission policies for secondary schools were to be 
reconsidered and the creation of free schools would also help reduce pressure on 
school places.  There would also be efforts made to ensure the community 

Page 6



 

7 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

benefitted from school facilities and there would be better consultation and 
engagement with local communities on new schemes, building inclusive provision 
into expansion of new schools and improve accessibility for all pupils, especially at 
secondary level.  Sara Williams added that better contingency arrangements would 
also be in place, such as early opening of classes in expanded primary schools 
rather than ‘filling from the bottom’ and keeping temporary accommodation modules 
on standby.  Members noted the projections and demand for both primary and 
secondary schools. 
 
During members’ discussion, it was enquired if there were currently any children 
living in the borough who did not have a school place and how was performance 
compared to the previous year.  In noting the ambitiousness of the Schools Capital 
Programme, it was asked whether achieving its targets were realistic.  In respect of 
helping pupils to stay close to home, a member asked if a limit on distance had 
been determined as to when it would become unacceptable.  The member felt that 
details of pupils’ distance from their home to school should be closely monitored 
and situations where parents were having to coordinate transport of pupils to 
different schools should be an exception, particularly if they had made their 
applications on time.  Another member suggested that it would be useful to receive 
figures regarding pupil distance from the school they attended.  In addition, details 
of pupil access to the schools should also be included, as for example, if a pupil 
needed to get two buses to school as this would impact upon the time taken and 
also on the family’s finances.  She added that a report providing more details would 
have been beneficial and allowed members to properly scrutinise the matter.  
Another member, whilst appreciating the opportunity the presentation gave for pre-
scrutiny prior to a report going to Cabinet, enquired whether officers were confident 
that primary schools could maintain educational standards as they got larger.  She 
also asked whether placing Special Educational Needs (SEN) pupils was relatively 
trouble free.  A question was raised as to whether schools in the north of the 
borough were taking more pupils than those in the south and where could details 
be found of pupil numbers throughout the borough.  Another member asked 
whether school expansion posed risks in terms of whether there was sufficient 
infrastructure in place.   
Councillor Hector then addressed the committee.  Councillor Hector referred to an 
example she was aware of in her ward where a pupil with a disability and with 
social and medical needs who had been refused admission to his nearest school 
probably on the basis that his faith was different to the school’s.  She felt that this 
was unfair given the circumstances and sought comments on this. 
 
In reply to the issues raised, Sara Williams confirmed that presently there no 
children without school places, however years 5 and 6 were extremely full.  She 
advised that the placing of pupils this year had been an improvement from the 
previous two years and added that it was important that all pupils were placed by 3 
October as this was when the school census figures were taken.  She felt that the 
Capital Schools Programme was achievable financially, although there were some 
logistical challenges to overcome.  Additional reception classes were being 
established ahead of the rest of the Capital Schools Programme in order to 
accommodate any subsequent slippage in delivering the programme.  Sara 
Williams added that quality and value for money of additional school buildings was 
a London-wide issue and the importance of the procurement exercise in securing 
these was emphasised.  The committee noted that ‘close to home’ guidelines had 
outlined that pupils up to and including eight year olds schools should be less than 

Page 7



 

8 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

two miles from their homes, and above eight year olds should be less than three 
miles.  In reality, most pupils lived considerably closer than these distances and 
Sara Williams acknowledged that it was impractical for parents to be expected to 
take one child to one school, then another child in a completely different direction to 
another school and the Fair Access Protocol would be applied to address this.  She 
stated that pupils would be placed in their nearest schools at reception class level, 
although this may be more difficult to achieve for in-year applications. 
 
Sara Williams advised that primary schools were becoming larger both at London 
and national level, however the most important factors in ensuring quality education 
were good leadership and management.  In addition, larger primary schools were 
able to resource subjects such as foreign languages, be more financially resilient 
and offer a greater career structure for teachers.  In respect of SEN pupils, Sara 
Williams emphasised the importance of ensuring they were given the right provision 
and providing this in existing schools had been successful.  The number of SEN 
pupils going to non-Brent schools had fallen significantly in recent years and this 
had reduced the strain on the SEN budget.  Sara Williams advised that there was a 
larger demand for pupil places in the north of the borough, including a number of 
‘hotspots’ such as Wembley, Kingsbury and Queensbury and along the 
Cricklewood corridor.  As such, it was likely that there would be more pupils coming 
from the north of the borough to schools in the south, however schools were being 
expanded across the whole borough.  The committee noted that the October school 
census would show where pupils were located.  Sara Williams informed members 
that checks were undertaken to ensure there was the sufficient infrastructure where 
permanent expansion was planned and that in this respect, Brent schools were 
faring better than a number of other London boroughs.  Sara Williams stated that 
she was aware of the case that Councillor Hector had referred to and stated that 
such situation were rare, however voluntary aided schools had their own 
admissions criteria. 
 
Christine Gilbert (Chief Executive) advised that a report on the draft school places 
strategy was due to go to Cabinet on 13 October.  However, it was felt that 
providing the Scrutiny Committee with a presentation on the item prior to the 
publication of the Cabinet report would be useful for members and allow them to 
undertake pre-scrutiny of a Cabinet item and provide views and feedback to 
Cabinet.   
 
The Chair concluded discussion by acknowledging the large interest from members 
and other councillors on this item and in noting the improvement in placing pupils in 
the last two years.  However, he emphasised the need to sustain progress and 
requested that school places be considered at a Scrutiny Committee meeting in 
around two months’ time. 
 

7. Children's centres  
 
Sara Williams introduced the report that went to Cabinet on 21 July outlining 
proposals to extend childcare at Treetops, Barham Park and St Raphael’s 
Children’s Centres.  She advised that children’s centres were used as an early 
intervention vehicle and it had been agreed by Cabinet that it was both viable and 
offer value for money to extend the three centres identified.  The changes at the 
centres were in the process of being implemented and involved cooperation across 
a number of council service areas.   

Page 8



 

9 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

 
During discussion by committee, a member suggested that the children centres 
were concentrated in a particular area and neglected the north of the borough.  
Another member sought advice on what members should be focusing on in view of 
the fact that the report had already been approved by Cabinet.  A member sought 
clarity that the children’s centres provided for those children up to and including four 
years of age.  In noting that children were entitled to nursery places between two to 
three years of age, she sought further reasons for how children’s centres were 
being used.  In respect of the  Barham Park building, she noted that there were 
proposals for a nursery to be included, however she sought clarity on this matter as 
Barham Park Trust had stipulated that the building was for community use only and 
the lack of consultation on this proposal had also angered residents. 
 
Councillor Harrison then addressed the committee and stated that children’s 
centres were for the community and they delivered a wide range of services and it 
was also beneficial to bring services into children’s centres. 
 
In reply, Sara Williams advised that children’s centres were located across the 
borough, however the ones proposed for extended childcare were located where 
the most disadvantaged communities were and these proposals were only part of a 
wider strategy for children’s centres.  She confirmed that children’s centres were for 
children up to and including four years of age.  The purpose of children’s centres 
compared to nurseries was that they also provided services to the children’s family 
and examples included paediatric first aid training for fathers and cooking courses.  
Sara Williams confirmed that the advice of the council’s Legal and Procurement 
department was that nursery use in the Barham Park building was in accordance 
with the Barham Park Trust. 
 
Cathy Tyson confirmed that the Cabinet report on children’s centres had been 
requested to be looked at by the committee. 
 
The Chair commented that the long term future of the children’s centres would be 
clearer in around four months time and he requested that an update be provided to 
the committee at around that time. 
 

8. Scrutiny Committee forward plan  
 
The Chair referred to the forward plan and noted the committee’s requests at the 
meeting for further updates on the NWLHT CQC inspection compliance plan, 
school places strategy and children’s centres.  In addition, an item on the 
PREVENT programme was to be added to the forward plan.  Councillor Daly stated 
that she would like an item on what plans NPH were making to cope with additional 
demand in the winter months and on GP waiting lists.  She added that residents 
had expressed dissatisfaction about the week of action in Sudbury ward and she 
asked how this could be discussed at a future meeting.   
 
The Chair then stated that Cathy Tyson would circulate the draft forward plan to 
members with the additional items of interest that had been raised and inviting 
members to make any further suggestions.  The timing of when these items could 
be put to the committee would then be considered. 
 
 

Page 9



 

10 
Scrutiny Committee - 1 October 2014 

9. Any other urgent business  
 
None. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 9.40 pm 
 
 
 
A CHOUDRY 
Chair 
 

Page 10



 
Scrutiny Committee 
3 November 2014 

Version no.2 
  

 
 

 
 

 

Scrutiny Committee 
3rd November 2014 

Report from the Operations Director, 
Housing & Employment  

  

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

  

Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategy 

 
 

1.0 Summary 
1.1 This covering report accompanies the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 

Strategy consultation paper. The emerging Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Strategy (2015 -2020) is a strategy for the borough, not just the council. This 
will be the first time a strategy for this area has been formed. The strategy is 
designed to be an active vision for the borough and will be accompanied by a 
live Action Plan, detailing how the vision and strategic objectives will be 
achieved. 
 

1.2 In developing the strategy, analysis of labour market trend and the economic 
climate has been undertaken and input from all key stakeholders sought.  

 

1.3 The consultation paper presents a summary of the emerging themes and 
objectives that will shape the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategy.  It is 
not a full draft but draws on earlier discussions with a range of partners to 
highlight the main areas that the strategy will cover and, in particular, the 
strategic objectives and the outcomes linked to them. 
 

1.4 The aim of the document is to provide a basis for further consultation that will 
help to refine and clarify the content of the strategy as a full draft document is 
prepared.  It sets out a number of questions to which response is sought. 

 

2.0  Recommendations 
2.1 Feedback and views on the emerging themes of the strategy, as detailed in 

the consultation paper, is sought from the Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 11



 
Scrutiny Committee 
3 November 2014 

Version no.2 
  

 
 

3.0 Detail 
3.1 We are currently in the consultation phase of developing the Employment, 

Skills and Enterprise strategy. This has been an ongoing phase, with a series 
of discussions having taken place over the last 12 months with a range of 
stakeholder to inform the emerging themes of the strategy. These emerging 
themes have been captured in the consultation paper. Further, targeted 
discussions on specific themes are continuing with specific stakeholders to 
refine the themes, particularly the emerging strategic objectives and outcome. 
The consultation paper supports these discussions. 

 
3.2 Appendix 1 provides an overview of the targeted discussions being held. 
 
3.3 The consultation paper has been shared with a range of partners including: 

employment, skills and enterprise related providers from the voluntary and 
community sector, Registered Providers, educational providers including 
College of North West London and Head Teachers of secondary and primary 
schools, relevant strategic partners including Department for Work & Pensions 
and Work Programme Providers, council colleagues including Children & 
Families and Planning & Regeneration, and specialist organisations including 
those who work with young people, people with disabilities including mental ill 
health, and people with offending history. 

 
3.4 The consultation period comes to a conclusion at the end of October 2014. 

The final strategy will be presented to Cabinet in January 2015 for sign-off. 
 

 
 Contact Officers 
 Jon Lloyd-Owen 
 Operations Director, Housing and Employment 
 Jon.lloyd-own@brent.gov.uk 
 
 Shomsia Ali 
 Head of Employment & Enterprise 
 Shomsia.ali@brent.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 12



 
Scrutiny Committee 
3 November 2014 

Version no.2 
  

 
 

Appendix 1 - Consultation Plan 
 

Group Purpose Key Objective(s) Date 
Brent Council Planning 
& Regeneration 
 

Enterprise vision 
Growth areas and High Streets 
SME support survival and growth 
Workspace 
Inward investment  

Strategic Objective 5 Continuous  

Brent Council Children 
& Families 
 

Improved links between education 
and business 
Careers advice 
Disadvantaged young people 
Childcare 

Strategic Objective 1 
 

Continuous 

Brent Council Housing 
& Employment  

Link with Housing Strategy (2015-
19) 
Link with allocation policy 
Frontline integration of housing, 
benefits and employment services 

Strategic Objectives 
2 & 3 

Continuous 

Registered Providers 
(RP) 

To share and test vision and 
objectives with RP representation.  
 
To understand the continual role 
and contribution of RPs. 
 
Individual conversations with RPs 
with significant housing stock in 
identified neighbourhoods including: 
Hyde Housing, Metropolitan 
Housing Association and Catalyst 
Housing  

All, particularly 
Strategic Objectives 
2 and 3 

Continuous 
 
 
 
 
 
September – 
October 2014  

Brent Housing 
Partnership 

Largest provider of social housing 
in Brent. 
 
Commitment to neighbourhood 
approach  

Strategic Objectives 
2 and 3 

Continuous 

Brent CVS To share and test vision and 
objectives with VCS representation  

All  26th August 2014 

Prospects Main deliverer of Youth Contracts 
and deliverer of Connexions 
services in Brent 

Strategic Objective 
1; Outcome 1 

9th September 2014 

Voluntary Sector Liaison 
Forum 

To share and test vision and 
objectives with key partners in the 
community and voluntary sector 
(VCS), particularly with those in the 
employment, skills and enterprise 
sectors. 
 
To gain the input of VCS partners. 
 
To understand the continual role 
and contribution of the VCS.  

All, particularly 
Strategic Objectives 
2 and 3 

18th September 2014 

Strategic members of 
Employment Summit  
 
 

Group that will be responsible for 
monitoring success of strategy. 
 
Test vision and key objectives, 

All with particular 
focus as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
Scrutiny Committee 
3 November 2014 

Version no.2 
  

 
 

 
 
 

- College of North 
West London 
 
 
 

- DWP (including 
JCP) 

 
 
 

- Work 
Programme 
Primes  
 
 
 

- Employment 
Provider’s 
Forum 
(operational/deli
very partners) 

including partners commitment and 
role: 
 
Skills 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Main national commissioner of 
employment provision 
 
 
 
Delivers of national flagship 
employment provision 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Employment and skills related 
partners from VCS and other 
sectors, with particular focus on 
operational and delivery staff 

 
 
 
Strategic Objective 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Objectives 
2, 3 & 4 
 
 
 
Strategic Objective 4 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
7th October 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3rd September 2014 
 
 
 
 
5th September  2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
20th October 2014 

Businesses and 
employers 
 
3 business engagement 
sessions with 
businesses including: 
start-ups, and High 
Street businesses 
 
 
Individual large 
businesses including: 
Segro and large public 
sector employers, 
including NHS 

 

 
 
 
To understand viewpoint of 
entrepreneurs and start-up 
 
To understand viewpoint of 
established businesses in terms of 
business survival and growth 
 
 
To understand viewpoint of large 
businesses particularly focused on 
investment, growth and job creation 
 
  
 

 
 
 
Strategic Objective 5 

 
 
 
October 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 2014 
 
 
 

Residents 
 

To share draft visions and strategic 
objectives. To understand 
residents’ priorities  

All  October – November 
14 
 
Phase 2 (testing 
messages from 
phase 1). 8 focus 
groups of residents 
 

Education 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 14



 
Scrutiny Committee 
3 November 2014 

Version no.2 
  

 
 

 

Schools 
- Head Teachers 

rep 
 

*secondary schools 
 
 
Brent Youth Parliament 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
Map current careers and 
employment provision in schools 
 
Buy-in for improved career activities 
in schools 
 
Understand young people’s views 
on existing careers and 
employment related provision in 
schools. Test strategy's vision  
 
 
 

 
Strategic Objective1; 
Outcome 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15th October 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
15th October 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

EMPLOYMENT, SKILLS 
AND ENTERPRISE 

STRATEGY 
2014- 19 

 

Consultation Paper 

 

 

 

Page 17



 
EMPLOYMENT ,  SK ILLS  AND ENTERPRISE  

STRATEGY 2015 -20  
 

CONSULTAT ION PAPER 
 

 

1.        INTRODUCTION 

This document presents a summary of the emerging themes and objectives that will shape 
the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategy.  It is not a full draft but draws on earlier 
discussions with a range of partners to highlight the main areas that the strategy will cover 
and, in particular, the strategic objectives and the outcomes linked to them. 

The aim is to provide a basis for further consultation that will help to refine and clarify the 
content of the strategy as a full draft document is prepared.  A number of questions are set 
out in the text and you are asked to respond to these, although any other comments are 
welcome.   

2. CONTEXT - ISSUES AND CHALLENGES 

The strategy is being developed in the wake of prolonged economic downturn, high 
unemployment, low business confidence and static or falling incomes.  Although economic 
indicators are improving, progress is slow and the problems of the last few years persist.  At 
the same time, recovery runs in parallel with new challenges such as the growth of insecure 
and short-term employment, the impact of welfare reform and a severe shortage of 
affordable housing in Brent and London as a whole.  

Welfare reform impacts significantly on a large number of Brent households and future 
changes such as the introduction of Universal Credit will impose new pressures, with 
employment offering the most effective route out of poverty and social exclusion.  In this 
context, the council’s priority is to tackle inequality, unemployment and low incomes and 
increase opportunities for Brent residents, while linking work around employment and low 
incomes closely to local housing policy and housing provision.  A central aim for this 
strategy is that Brent businesses and Brent residents should be able to reap the benefits of 
improving economic conditions through business growth and the ability to compete in the 
wider job market for secure and appropriately rewarded employment.  

While conditions in Brent reflect the national and regional picture, there are some particular 
features that the strategy seeks to address: 

 

 

Page 18



POCKETS OF SIGNIFICANT, ENTRENCHED UNEMPLOYMENT 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation reveals concentrations of deprivation in the south of the 
borough, centred in particular on social housing estates.   Mainstream interventions over 
many years have made little impact on skills, employment and incomes in areas such as 
Harlesden, Stonebridge and South Kilburn.  Alongside these geographical concentrations 
there are particular communities, for example some BAME groups, recent migrants into the 
borough and people with a disability or mental health issues, in which particular needs 
exist.  In addition, there is evidence that the growing private rented sector is an important 
source of accommodation for many of Brent’s most vulnerable households. 

THE DISTINCTION BETWEEN UNEMPLOYMENT AND WORKLESSNESS 

Brent’s unemployment rate partly reflects those residents who are claiming Job Seekers 
Allowance (JSA) and this is an improving picture. However, many residents face additional 
challenges that prevent them from being economically active, reflected in the number of 
people claiming benefits such as Income Support or not claiming benefits to which they 
may be entitled. This includes the high number of residents who are out of the labour 
market for health reasons, particularly mental ill health, but who wish to work.  

PREVALENCE OF LOW-PAID EMPLOYMENT   

Brent’s improving employment rate also masks the number of residents in established Brent 
communities trapped in low value employment. This is characterised by low incomes, 
mostly at national minimum wage, with little prospects for career development and 
progression. Reflecting national trends, this is coupled with insecure employment as 
evidenced by the growth of zero hour or 'few hours' contracts. 

BRENT’S ECONOMY IS A LOW-SKILLED, LOW VALUE OUTPUT ONE  

Brent is part of the wider sub-regional and London economy and Brent residents need to be 
skilled and equipped to benefit from the higher value jobs this offers, while this strategy also 
needs to consider how the council and its partners can encourage growth and new 
directions locally.  

EMPLOYMENT TRENDS AND BRENT LABOUR MARKET 

During the period 2003 to 2013 the working age population in Brent increased by 18.1% 
from 184,300 to its current level of 217,632.  Of the total working age population only those 
who are in employment or those who are unemployed but actively looking for work are 
classified as economically active. In March 2014 123,900 people aged 16–64, (72.9% of 
Brent’s population) were classified as economically active. Of these, 112,100 are in 
employment, (65.9% of the economically active working age population compared to the 
London average of 70.5%). In Brent, 41.8% of working age adults are employed, 9.4% are 
self-employed and 9.6% are unemployed and looking for work. There are 11,800 
unemployed people in Brent. In London the overall unemployment rate is 8.3% and for the 
UK it is 7.3%. Over the past 15 years, Brent’s unemployment rate has consistently been 1-
3% above the London rate. 

Page 19



27.1% of working age people are economically inactive and not seeking employment. The 
main reasons given are students in full time education (17.1%), those unable to work due to 
a long–term health condition (8.2%) or looking after family or home (17.0%). 

In the past ten years, unemployment and employment levels in Brent have begun to 
emulate London trends. During this time, Brent has seen an increase in working age adults, 
due to the ageing resident population and continued inward migration. However, ward-level 
analysis shows varying rates of unemployment: in June 2014, rates varied from 1.3% in 
Kenton to 9.5% in Harlesden. Other wards with high rates are: Stonebridge (7.9%), Kensal 
Green (6.9%) and Willesden Green (6.2%).  Note that these figures cover only those 
claiming JSA, while the overall rate of 9.6% covers other individuals. 

Between 2008 and 2013, the proportion of the working age population with a NVQ4 level 
qualification or above increased from 27% to 44%. Similar increases were seen in other 
levels of qualification; the proportion with a NVQ3 level qualification or above rose from 
40% to 61%, while the proportion with a NVQ2 level qualification rose from 49% to 72% and 
the proportion with a NVQ1 level qualification rose from 56% to 81%. The proportion 
without any qualifications remained consistent at 8%, while the proportion with other types 
of qualification decreased from 35% to 12%.  One possible factor behind these figures is in-
migration of highly qualified new residents, a trend mirrored in the housing market where 
higher earners are moving into private rented housing in the borough. 

In 2012 there were 115,000 jobs in Brent, giving the borough a job density of 0.53 - 
significantly below the London average of 0.88 and the UK average of 0.78. In 2000 the job 
density ratio was 0.67. The ratio of employment opportunities to working age adults has 
decreased due to loss of jobs in some employment sectors, combined with an increase in 
working age residents.  While job density has been comparatively low for the past decade it 
is now at levels more usually seen in rural areas – for example, job density in East 
Cambridgeshire in 2012 was 0.55. 

Employment in the construction sector continues to grow, now accounting for 11% of 
employment in the borough. Similarly, employment in the service sector is considerably 
higher in Brent (25%) compared to London (7%) and the UK (7%). The proportion of jobs in 
the finance and IT sector has decreased from a high of 24% in 2011 to 18% in 2013, while 
the public administration, health and education sectors account for a lower proportion of all 
jobs (24%) in comparison to the UK and London.   

It should be stressed that local employment needs must be seen in the context of the 
London and wider job market, in which Brent residents already compete. Similarly, 
opportunities for growth in the local economy will not be concerned solely with the current 
dominant sectors.  

Over the past 15 years, gross median earnings for Brent residents have been below 
London levels, although they have remained above the UK average.  Weekly median gross 
earning for all employees at the end of 2013 was £538, £5 less a week than in 2012 but in 
the context of a significant overall increase across the period.  Median pay by work place in 
Brent is £546 a week, suggesting that while many Brent residents work outside the borough 
there is little difference in the earnings they achieve. 

Page 20



QUESTION 1:  Does this overview picture of Brent reflect your broad 
experience?   

 

 
 
 
 

QUESTION 2: Is there anything missing that the strategy should take account 
of? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.  VISION  

The council aims to respond to the circumstances outlined above through a strategy that 
looks to the long term while focusing strongly on the next five years.  In broad terms, the 
vision is that: 

The council and its partners will reduce inequality, overcome entrenched 
worklessness, promote socio-economic mobility and raise living standards by 
creating and fostering conditions that assist businesses to grow and succeed 
and enable residents to escape poverty, acquire skills and obtain decent, 
meaningful and well-paid employment.  Within twenty years, levels of 

employment in Brent will be equal to or better than the London and West 
London averages. 

The strategic objectives and related outcomes summarised below provide the framework 
through which this vision will be realised.  Objectives have been drawn up with reference to 
some underlying principles, recognising that responsibility and relevant powers and 
resources do not lie with the council in many areas: 

• The strategy will be for the borough as a whole, not just the council, and will involve, as 
far as possible, alignment of priorities and better coordination of resources amongst all 
partners 

• The role of the voluntary and community sector and other partners, including 
Registered Providers, is crucial in achieving agreed strategic objectives 

• As far as possible and reasonable, Brent Council will adopt a leadership position, taking 
a strategic rather than delivery role 

Page 21



• Brent is part of a labour market encompassing not just the travel to work area but 
London as a whole and all of our residents should be able to compete effectively in this 
wider market 

• Businesses and employers will play a central role and are recognised as crucial 
partners 

• Local residents will be prioritised for employment and related opportunities as a result 
of regeneration and council commissioning activity 

 

QUESTION 3: Does the vision capture the most important aims for the 
strategy? 

 

 
 
 
 

QUESTION 4: Are there other principles that should be applied? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOMES 

This section provides an overview of objectives, intended outcomes and actions to achieve 
them.  The list of potential actions is not comprehensive or final and is included to provide a 
guide to current thinking.  Suggestions for inclusion in the final action plan would be 
particularly welcome. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1 –––– To integrate skills provision more closely with 
employment so that it is responsive to and reflective of the labour market and 
employer demand, supporting the transition from education and training into work 
and progression within work. 

Outcomes:  

• Brent businesses, employers and training providers will support schools in enabling 
young people to develop the skills to make a successful transition from education into 
work 

Page 22



• Adult training providers will deliver an employment-focused curriculum, geared to labour 
market needs and providing adults with the skills and knowledge to move into or 
progress within employment 

• By 2020 the number of residents with no qualification will, as a minimum, be at the 
London average  

There has been a historic separation between skills and employment provision, resulting in 
a mismatch between skills and the needs of the labour market.  This strategic objective 
recognises the importance of engaging with local businesses and employers; ensuring 
there are improved links between education and business and greater labour market and 
employer influence on adult skills provision.  

It should be noted that the statutory duty for providing careers advice and guidance for 
students at schools has moved from local authorities to individual schools, reducing the 
council’s influence in this area. 

Proposed actions include: 

• Exploring a Mentoring scheme between Council staff and Brent school pupils  

• Expansion of Brent’s in-house apprenticeship service  

• A reformed curriculum for the council's adult education service, Start, linked to 
employment outcomes and employer needs 

• Careers advice linked to labour and growth markets in Brent and London 

• Council commissioned or delivered ESOL provision to have embedded employment 
support 

• Coordinated employer offer across the borough to ensure that skills provision is 
informed by businesses  

• Local Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to align their Skills Funding Agency 
(SFA) funding pot to this strategy, commissioning vocational courses informed by 
labour market intelligence 

 

QUESTION 4: Does the objective cover the key priorities in this area? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 23



QUESTION 5: Are there other outcomes that should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 

QUESTION 6: What other actions and targets should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 7: How can your organisation contribute? What specific actions 
can your organisation take to achieve this objective? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2 - To reduce inequality by reducing economic and social 
polarisation in our most deprived neighbourhoods and amongst residents most in 
need  

Outcome:  

• By 2020, the gap in employment levels between priority neighbourhoods and 
communities and the borough as a whole will be halved 

This objective has a strong focus on residents likely to be further from the labour market, 
with multiple constraints and not effectively accessing services, many of whom live in the 
most deprived neighbourhoods and are claiming inactive benefits.  This will include many 
families and individuals impacted by welfare reforms, and families who are being supported 
through the council’s Working with Families initiatives.  

The council’s Housing Strategy, adopted in July 2014, aims to support employment and 
growth in a number of ways.  These include additional priority on the Housing Register for 
working households and use of fixed-term tenancies linked to employment support.  The 
intention is that the Housing and Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategies should offer 
a coherent and coordinated approach that maximizes opportunities for Brent residents 

Page 24



across all housing tenures.  Within this, there is a particular focus on priority 
neighbourhoods, where the Index of Multiple Deprivation shows persistent problems 
compared to the rest of the borough in terms of unemployment levels, education and skills, 
poor health and other issues, often linked to high levels of social or private rented housing.  
The priority neighbourhoods are Church End, Chalkhill, Harlesden, St Raphaels, 
Stonebridge and South Kilburn. 

In addition, the evidence indicates that some groups and communities across the borough 
are particularly likely to face poverty, unemployment and social exclusion, including those 
impacted by welfare reform, people with disabilities or long-term health conditions including 
poor mental health and people from certain ethnic groups. 

 

Proposed actions include: 

• Place-based research to understand key barriers to employment and specific nuances 
in each neighbourhood, leading to a joint and community driven action plan for each 
neighbourhood 

• Piloting a placed-based multi agency provision aimed at supporting employment in the  
St Raphael's Estate as part of the West London Alliance's Whole Place Community 
Budget proposal 

• New approaches to housing register and allocations  including linking grant and 
renewal of tenancies with employment support and additional priority for those in 
employment in some circumstances 

• Integration of housing options, employment and welfare advice at the frontline 

• Housing providers to maximise the opportunities to use procurement power to promote 
local employment and support for local business 

• Coordination of employment and financial inclusion initiatives across housing providers 
and other partners in given localities 

• Coordinated response to welfare reform including co-located activities with DWP and 
Citizen’s Advice Bureau and commissioning of job brokerage services for residents 
impacted by welfare reforms 

• Address child care barriers to employment, including support for community-based 
childcare provision and further development of the flexible child-minding pool  

• Review of the council’s recruitment processes to ensure they are fair and supportive of 
employment of local people 

• Council to offer work experience and apprenticeship opportunities to local residents  

• Maximise employment, training and apprenticeship outcomes for local residents 
through procurement processes and the Social Value Act 

Page 25



QUESTION 8:  Does the objective cover the key priorities in this area? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 9: Are there other outcomes that should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 10: What other actions and targets should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 11: How can your organisation contribute? What specific actions 
can your organisation take to achieve this objective? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 3: To reduce poverty through employment and progression 
in work  

Outcomes:  

• By 2020, the proportion of residents earning less than the London Living Wage will 
reduce to at least the London average  

• By 2020, median incomes in Brent will be at least equal to the London average 

Page 26



Residents may be ‘under-employed’ for a number of reasons, including being in part-time 
work when full-time work is preferred, taking a more junior role in order to manage work-life 
balance or being in low value-output, low skilled employment and unable to progress due to 
a lack of necessary skills.  This objective is concerned with the latter group; those trapped 
in entry level jobs characterised by low wages and insecure employment contracts. The 
ambition of this strategy is a local population that is skilled and able to compete confidently 
in a high-skilled, high-output London labour market and beyond.  

This will require increased commitment by local and sub-regional employers to the London 
Living Wage, raising skill and qualification levels amongst adults through skills and training 
agencies and working with business to support staff development and progression. 

Achievement of these outcomes is therefore linked to strategic objective 1 above. 

 

Proposed actions include: 

• Work with local employers to raise commitment to paying the London Living Wage 

• Brent’s adult education service, Start, to work with local employers to support work 
force development 

• Brent Council ensuring adoption of London Living Wage is widespread across its 
services and supply chain 

 

QUESTION 12:  Does the objective cover the key priorities in this area? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

QUESTION 13: Are there other outcomes that should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 27



QUESTION 14: What other actions and targets should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 15: How can your organisation contribute? What specific actions 
can your organisation take to achieve this objective?  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4: The council will lead borough and sub-regional 
partnerships to shape, influence and secure devolution of national programmes to 
deliver better outcomes for Brent businesses and residents.  

 
Outcome:  
 
• By 2020, work with providers will achieve and sustain convergence with the London 

average JSA claimant count and raise overall employment levels to equal or exceed the 
London average 

This objective relates to: 

• National employment and skills programmes, commissioned by central Government, 
operating in Brent  

• Council activities which could deliver better employment outcomes for residents  

The council will build on its working relationships with DWP and others to continue the 
positive trend of overall reduction in the claimant count and will support moves to devolve 
responsibility to the appropriate local level. The council will take a leadership approach to 
support, challenge and work with providers of nationally commissioned provision to deliver 
better outcomes for residents.  

The council will ensure it achieves better value from the Social Value Act. Through its 
procurement activities, particularly of service contracts, Brent Council will seek to influence 

Page 28



and facilitate the employment of Brent residents and the creation of pathways to 
employment for young people, including traineeships and work placements.  

Proposed actions include: 

• Strategic partnership with  stakeholders including DWP, Prime Providers of nationally 
commissioned employment programmes, College of North West London, VCS 
representatives and Brent Council to drive up employment rates within the borough 

• Strategic Partnership with DWP and Work Programme Providers to support 
improvement of Work Programme outcomes for Brent residents 

• Lobbying for more local influence in commissioning of national programmes 

QUESTION 16:  Does the objective cover the key priorities in this area? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 17: Are there other outcomes that should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 18: What other actions and targets should be included? 

 

 
 
 

QUESTION 19: How can your organisation contribute? What specific actions 
can your organisation take to achieve this objective?  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 5 - To promote economic growth through regeneration and 
increasing opportunities for local businesses 

Outcomes:  

• Physical regeneration schemes in Brent and beyond will deliver a demonstrable 
increase in employment related opportunities with a target of 5,000 new jobs, including 
apprenticeships, created for and accessed by Brent residents  

• The strategy will establish the conditions to encourage creation of new businesses and 
new and high-value business sectors and support growth of the existing business sector 
to support job creation and raise incomes 

 

Physical regeneration of the borough plays a critical role in supporting the growth of the 
local economy and employment of local residents. The council will work with developers to 
ensure that access to employment and training opportunities is improved, particularly for 
those most in need. Employment and training opportunities will be maximised through 
Section 106 and developer contracts, including better links with schools, creation of work 
placements, apprenticeships and jobs. In addition developers will be expected to promote 
supply chain opportunities to local businesses and encouraged to increase spend in the 
local economy, facilitated through the SupplyBrent web portal. 

Beyond the immediate ability to achieve employment growth and other benefits through 
regeneration, the strategy embraces wider ambitions for the sustainment and expansion of 
the local economy through work with the businesses that will drive growth.  The strategy 
aims to foster the conditions that will support growth among existing business and the 
development of new enterprises and new entrepreneurs, with an explicit focus on the five 
growth areas1 and town centers where opportunities are concentrated.  This will include 
support for start-ups and small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and work with larger, 
established firms as well as support for self-employment.  Beyond initial consultation on the 
strategy, the council will work with businesses and business representatives to identify 
mechanisms for continuous engagement, for example through regular networking or similar 
events, to ensure that priorities and outcomes meet commercial needs. 

 

Proposed actions include: 

• Develop policy around Social Value Act to ensure employment, training and supply 
chain opportunities are maximized through procurement and commissioning 

• Brent Council to act as a single point of contact, coordinating recruitment activities as a 
result of regeneration in the borough 

• SupplyBrent portal to expand  so that local trades and businesses can benefit from 
large scale development contracts 

                                                

1 Alperton, Wembley, Church End, South Kilburn and Burnt Oak 

Page 30



• SupplyBrent portal to promote supply chain opportunities arising from procurement of 
service contracts 

• Support local businesses, with a focus on SMEs, to create apprenticeship opportunities 

• Support efforts to create employment opportunities, focusing on the five growth areas 

• Develop a High Street Plan leading to a town centre/High Street strategy for selected 
areas 

• Launch Brent Business Hub 

• Ensure the provision of a range of incubator, test-trading, move-on and meeting spaces 
for SMEs and start-ups including a single online directory of space availability,  
exploring feasibility of converting existing suitable but underused Council and partner 
premises into move-on workspaces and  evaluation of all meanwhile projects to inform 
a more stable provision of workspace in the future 

• Identify and encourage use of empty commercial space and provide information on 
opportunities to lease or acquire property 

• Consider how planning policy and approach to Business Rates can assist business and 
identify opportunities to remove unnecessary barriers to enterprise 

• Update the Local Development Framework, exploring suitable employment sites that 
may be ripe for incubator, move-on and meeting spaces 

• Support the spin-out of higher value enterprise 

• Coordinate access to support and advice on matters relating to business start-up and 
growth and links to London-wide and national sources of  support, advice and funding 

• Work with schools and businesses to nurture the next generation of entrepreneurs 

  

QUESTION 20:  DOES THE OBJECTIVE COVER THE KEY PRIORITIES IN THIS AREA? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 21: Are there other outcomes that should be included? 

 

 
 

Page 31



 
 
 

QUESTION 22: What other actions and targets should be included? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 23: How can your organisation contribute? What specific actions 
can your organisation take to achieve this objective?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. IMPLEMENTATION 

A detailed action plan covering an initial period of three years is being drawn up and will be 
reviewed and monitored regularly so that it is a live document guiding activities and focus. 
Implementation of the strategy and action plan will be overseen by strategic partners 
through the Brent Employment Summit2.   

The suggested actions above are mainly council activities. We encourage all partners to 
consider how they can play a critical role in developing the action plan and achieving the 
agreed objectives of this strategy. 

Mirroring the strategy, the action plan will be a borough plan and Brent Council and 
partners from all sectors will need to work together to develop and deliver the action plan. 
This will particularly include organisations from the VCS, the housing sector, Work 
Programme providers and DWP.  

To support delivery, the council and partners will seek to maximize potential external 
funding for projects and programmes aligned to the strategic priorities. 

                                                

2 Brent Employment Summit is a strategic partnership of key employment related partners. It is chaired by 
Brent Council and partners include DWP, the College of North West London, VCS representation and, at the 
time of writing, representation from each of the three Prime contractors of the Work Programme. 

 

Page 32



 

Please use this space to add any other comments or suggestions.   
Suggestions for actions to support the objectives and outcomes and 
indications of the role your organisation might play would be especially 
welcome. 

Please return completed documents to Tony Hirsch (tony.hirsch@brent.gov.uk) by 
31st October 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting: Scrutiny Committee 
Date: 3rd November 2014 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Scrutiny Committee 
3rd November 2014 

Interim Report from the Head of 
 Policy and Scrutiny 

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

Promoting Electoral Engagement (IER) Task Group – Interim Report 

 
 

1.0 Summary 
 

1.1 This report brings to the Scrutiny Committee an interim report with findings 
and recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee’s task group investigation on 
how to promote electoral engagement in light of the change to Individual 
Electoral Registration (IER). 

 
1.2 The task group was established because members were concerned about the 

transition to IER. The transition to IER has been described as the most 
significant change to the electoral system in the last 100 years. The IER 
system went live in July 2014 and is expected to fully supplant the current 
Household Electoral Registration system on 1st December 2015 with the aim 
of making the process of registration more convenient and secure.  
 

1.3 More specifically, task group wanted to better understand the how the council, 
through the work of the Electoral Services and Communications Teams, was 
preparing for the changes.  
 

1.4   Given the timeframe for both the rollout of IER and this task group’s imminent 
report, it is hoped that the task group may assist in the rollout of IER by 
providing timely recommendations to improve outreach with residents. 

 
1.5 As this is an interim report, there are a number of activities the task group 

would like to undertake, including taking further evidence from officers in 
health and public health as well as other work undertaken by local authorities 
to promote engagement. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 35



 
Meeting: Scrutiny Committee 
Date: 3rd November 2014 

 

 
 

 2.0 Recommendations 
 

2.1 As this is an interim report, the Committee is not asked to agree the 
recommendations found in the interim report. However, the task group would 
welcome any comments and feedback from Committee members. 

  
3.0        Details 

 
3.1 IER is different from the current system in that it requires each person to 

register individually, instead of one person in a household supplying the 
details of everyone living at that address. Online registration will be available 
from the start of IER and it is hoped this will help everyone who is eligible to 
vote to have control over their process of registration. However, there is a risk 
that many may not transfer easily from the older system to IER and may be 
removed from the register in 2015.  
 

3.2 This particular issue is important for Brent as there are certain groups that 
have been identified as being at risk of not being transferred onto the new 
electoral roll, these include: 

 
• Young people turning 18; 
• Those aged 18 – 24 (including students); 
• Tenants in the private rented sector (PRS); 
• Postal voters; 
• People whose first language is not English; and 
• People with learning disabilities. 

 
3.3 The over-arching purpose of the task group has been to ensure that all of 

Brent’s residents are successfully transferred onto the new electoral roll. As 
such, the task group’s intended outcomes are: 

• To ensure that a clear and coherent  strategy for promoting electoral 
engagement in the borough, with a particular focus on under-
represented groups is developed; 

• Ensure that the Council and elected members are engaging with local 
communities around civic participation and voter registration  

• Harness the expertise of local CVS organisations to reach out to 
residents; 

• Ensure that most people in the borough are successfully transferred to 
the new system with a target rate of 95%; and 

• If possible, increase the number of local people on the electoral 
register. 

 
4.0 Financial Implications 

 
4.1 Many of the financial implications connected with the developmental issues of 

the task group report have been addressed either through a Cabinet Office 
grant or through mainstream funding of the Electoral Services team. 
 
 
 

Page 36



 
Meeting: Scrutiny Committee 
Date: 3rd November 2014 

 

 
 

5.0 Legal Implications 
 
5.1  The change to IER comes as result of the Electoral Registration and 

Administration Act 2013. The Representation of the People Act 1983 requires 
councils in England and Wales to appoint an Electoral Registration Officer. 
The RPA 1983 also requires that the council's Electoral Registration Officer 
be responsible for compiling and maintain the council’s electoral role and 
administering an annual canvass.  

 
6.0 Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 As above, the community groups particularly at-risk are: 
   

• Young people turning 18; 
• Those aged 18 – 24 (including students); 
• Tenants in the private rented sector (PRS); 
• Postal voters; 
• People whose first language is not English; and 
• People with learning disabilities. 

 
6.2 Ensuring that these groups are engaged is at the core of this task group’s 

recommendations. 
 
7.0 Staffing/Accommodation Implications (if appropriate) 

 
7.1 None 

 
8.0  Contact Officers 

 
James Curtis 
Policy Officer 
Tel – 020 8937 4594 
Email – james.curtis@brent.gov.uk 
 
Christopher Young 
Senior Policy Officer 
Tel – 020 8937 4349 
Email – christopher.young@brent.gov.uk 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Head of Policy and Scrutiny 
Tel – 020 8937 1045 
Email – cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Promoting Electoral Engagement 
 

A Scrutiny Task Group Report 
 

November 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

2 

 

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Individual Electoral Registration (IER) has been described as the most significant  

change to the electoral system in the last 100 years. The IER system went live in July 
2014 and is expected to fully supplant the current Household Electoral Registration 
system on 01 December 2015 with the aim of making the process of registration more 
convenient and secure. IER is different from the current system in that it requires each 
person to register individually, instead of one person in a household supplying the 
details of everyone living at that address. Online registration will be available from the 
start of IER and it is hoped this will help everyone who is eligible to vote to have control 
over their process of registration. 
 

1.2 Following IER’s introduction through the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 
2013, the Electoral Commission, working with local authorities and their Electoral 
Registration Officers (EROs), has set a timetable for local strategies to be developed to 
incorporate the changes and rollout of IER in July 2014, the Act came into force with 
the first revised register being published on 01 December 2014. In the intervening 
period a data matching exercise known as the confirmation ‘dry run’ was undertaken to 
confirm existing local electoral registers with addresses taken from a database at the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to accurately match individuals to their 
addresses. A Red, Amber, Green (RAG) rating system was assigned to each individual 
on local registers to illustrate the extent to which they matched. Red indicated no-one at 
the property was successfully matched; Amber indicated discrepancies at the property 
e.g. someone who goes by a shortened or nickname; Green indicates a full match. 
 

1.3 Following the confirmation dry run local authority EROs have been asked by the 
Electoral Commission to complete further matching exercises with their own local 
databases such as their Council Tax databases to further improve the quality of 
matching. 
 

1.4 All electors who are successfully matched will be automatically included in the new 
electoral register which is published on 1 December 2014, written confirmation of 
registration will be sent to those electors who are successfully registered. 
 

1.5 The Council has sent out a household inquiry form, which is in effect the equivalent of 
the traditional canvass form to properties where the confirmation dry run has suggested 
there may be residents who are not eligible to vote and/or not currently registered. 
Following the return of the form an invitation to register must be sent out to each 
eligible person requesting their date-of-birth and national insurance number. 
 

1.6 Two reminders will be sent and followed up by household visits if necessary. It remains 
a civil offence not to return the forms and Electoral Registration Officers (EROs) can 
impose a civil penalty of £80 for not doing so. The first revised electoral register will 
then be published on 01 December 2014, after which there will be a follow-up canvass 
of those who initially failed to register.  
 

1.7 Following this, an order will be laid before Parliament in August 2015 to conclude the 
transition to IER in December 2015. However, if no order is laid by Parliament, 
transition could extend to 2016. The full IER register is expected to be published on 01 
December 2015; at this point those who have not provided the correct documentation 
will be removed from the electoral roll. 
 

1.8 The risk of under-representation due to the shift to IER remains considerable, 
particularly when there is already a high level of under-registration in the UK as a 
whole. As of July 2014, the Electoral Commission estimated the figure to be as high as 
7.5 million voters, some 15% of people eligible to vote. 

 

Page 40



 

3 

 

2.0 Purpose of the task group 
 

2.1 So far, the London Borough of Brent is the only local authority to undertake scrutiny 
work on Individual Electoral Registration. The purpose of the scrutiny committee is to 
help the Council optimise the transition to IER by reviewing the strategy and 
consulting with relevant stakeholders.  
 

2.2 The purpose of this particular task group is to ensure that all of Brent’s residents are 
successfully transferred onto the new electoral roll. The task group’s intended 
outcomes are: 
 

 
• To ensure that a clear and coherent  strategy for promoting electoral engagement 

in the borough, with a particular focus on under-represented groups is developed; 
• Ensure that the Council and elected members are engaging with local 

communities around civic participation and voter registration  
• Harness the expertise of local CVS organisations to reach out to residents; 
• Ensure that most people in the borough are successfully transferred to the new 

system with a target rate of 95%; and 
• If possible, increase the number of local people on the electoral register. 

 
2.3 This particular issue is important for Brent as there are certain groups that have been 

identified as being at risk of not being transferred onto the new electoral roll, these 
include: 
 
• Young people turning 18; 
• Those aged 18 – 24 (including students); 
• Tenants in the private rented sector (PRS); 
• Postal voters (see appendix A); 
• People whose first language is not English; and 
• People with learning disabilities. 

 
2.4 Therefore, a comprehensive and successful rollout of IER must ensure that these 

groups are successfully registered. Ensuring that our residents can participate 
civically is a core objective of the borough plan, for this reason it is essential that our 
residents are transferred onto the new electoral roll successfully. The transition to IER 
also raises issues of equality and diversity. The Council must ensure it is fulfilling its 
public sector equality duties and this extends to civic participation and voter 
registration. 

3.0 Task group membership 

• Cllr Neil Nerva (chair) 
• Cllr Tom Miller 
• Cllr Janice Long 
• Cllr Tayo Oladapo 
• Cllr Arshad Mahmood 
• Cllr Rita Conneely 
• Cllr Aisha Hoda-Benn 

Policy support has been provided by James Curtis (Policy Officer) and Christopher Young 
(Senior Policy Officer) 

Page 41



 

4 

 

In order to complete the work, the task group gathered evidence from a number of internal 
and external sources. We would like to thank: 

Internal 

• James Diamond (Communications) 
• Sean O’Sullivan (Electoral Services - ERO) 
• Peter Goss (Electoral Services) 
• John Birkett (Research and Intelligence) 
• Jo McCormick (Partnerships and Participation) 
• Freda Owusu (Brent Housing Partnership) 
• Tony Hirsch (Policy and Performance) 
• Carl Holloway (Media Relations) 
• Councillor Michael Pavey (Deputy leader of the Council)  
• Thomas Cattermole (Member Services) 
• Nicola Mclean (Brent Youth Services) 

External 

• The Electoral Commission 
• Francis Henry (Daniels Estate Agents) 
• Ann O’Neil (Brent Mencap) 
• Lesley Spencer (Manchester City Council) 
• Elisabeth Pop (Hope not Hate) 
• Manpreet Singh (Hope not Hate) 
• Chris Ruane MP (Political and Constitutional Reform Committee) 
 

4.0 Methodology 

The task group drew on a range of quantative and qualitative data for this project 
which can be broadly grouped into four categories: 

Quantative: drawn from the DWP and collated by Brent’s Research and Intelligence   
team. Data has also been obtained from the credit referencing agency Experian and 
the Office for National Statistics; 

Qualitative – evidence given: consisting of face-to-face evidence and presentations 
given by relevant experts and stakeholders to the task group; 

Qualitative – consultation: consisting of telephone and face-to-face consultation 
with relevant organisations such as the Electoral Commission; and 

Qualitative – secondary research: consisting of the desktop-based collation of 
existing pieces of policy literature on the subject and examples of best practice from 
elsewhere. 

5.0 Key Findings 
 

• IER went live in July 2014 with the intention of making the process of registration 
more convenient and secure; 

• Key features of IER include: 

Page 42



 

5 

 

o The traditional method of registration carried out annually by the 
completion of a form by the whole household will cease. Annual 
registration forms will still be sent out to households and new residents 
identified on returned forms will be required to make a separate individual 
application; 

o All applicants will have to supply two personal identifiers, usually their 
date of birth and national insurance number (see appendix C); 

o To confirm elector’s residence, greater use will be made of government 
and local authority databases namely the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) Customer Information System (CIS) local authority 
electoral register data and Ordinance Survey AddressBase data; The 
three databases have been cross-referenced to establish a person’s 
identity; their address and details on the electoral register. This is known 
as the confirmation ‘dry run’ and had been undertaken by the DWP; and 

o The need for handwritten signatures has been removed, thus allowing 
applicants to register online using an electronic signature. Electoral 
Services produced an IER rollout and engagement strategy in the Spring 
of 2014, the communications team are in the process of developing a 
strategy which will be informed by the new register to be published in 
December 2014; 

• Electoral services currently employ five full-time members of staff and two 
temporary fixed-term staff. Based on benchmarking done by the department 
across 15 London boroughs and the City of London Corporation, the Electoral 
Services capacity in Brent is considerably smaller when compared with the other 
boroughs. Brent currently has a ratio of 00.32 members of Electoral Services staff 
relative to the size of the electorate, compared with an average of 00.69 across 
the other boroughs surveyed.  

• Nationally, the matching exercise revealed 79% of Green matches, 3% Amber 
and 18% Red.  Overall 67.6% of the electors in Brent were successfully matched, 
just under the London average of 68%;  

• The highest matching wards in Brent are: 
o  Kenton (79%); 
o  Queensbury (76%); 
o  Welsh Harp and Dollis Hill (74%); and 
o  Fryent and Stonebridge (73%). 

• The lowest matching wards in Brent are: 
o Willesden Green and Mapesbury (56%); 
o Kilburn (58%); and 
o Kensal Green and Brondesbury Park (61%). 

• The lowest matching wards all share a number of demographic characteristics: 
o Higher than Brent-average levels of deprivation; 
o Significant Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) communities; 
o Significant Muslim communities; 
o High number of single person households; and 
o High numbers of people in the PRS. 
o There are large numbers of people with disabilities, including learning 

difficulties, in the borough who may need additional support to 
successfully register; 

• There is a need for greater engagement with vulnerable residents and their   
representative groups (CVS organisations); 

• Similarly, there is a need to improve engagement on civic participation in the  
borough, particularly amongst Brent’s young people and minority ethnic groups; 

• Large numbers of Brent’s residents speak English only as a second language; 

Page 43



 

6 

 

• The registration form is not as clear as it could be and important information is 
missing; 

• There are a number of internal and external partners within the housing sector 
and higher education that are ideally placed to feed into the strategy and to help 
with voter registration; 

• Thirty-two per cent of Brent’s residents are now living in the private rented sector 
which is characterised by short-term tenancies and therefore are at an increased 
risk of not registering; and 

• There are a number of negative consequences of being removed from the 
electoral register besides not being able to vote, of which residents need to be 
aware. 

 
6.0 Key Recommendations 
 
The task group makes the following key recommendations which can be broadly grouped 
into two categories – internal and external – although some may be interconnected.  
 
Internal 
 

• Develop a clear and effective communications strategy to engage with the 
hardest-to-reach groups in the borough and ensure the right messages are 
conveyed. An effective communications strategy would utilise broadcast 
messaging, clear instructions and languages other than English on the 
registration form and use social media; 

• Inform Brent’s residents about the additional, potentially negative, consequences 
of being removed from the electoral register; 

• Encourage new migrants to the borough to sign-up to IER via a welcome pack 
and consider integrating registration into citizenship ceremonies. This may be 
integrated into the new online portal being developed; 

• Instructions on the registration form should be conveyed in short and clear 
sentences and information about how to apply without an NI number should be 
included; 

• Clear guidelines should be developed to inform carers of their civic duties 
regarding those under their care; and 

• The role of elected members could be more clearly set out to assist with voter 
registration. 

 
 External 
 

• Make full use of any role that Brent CVS organisations can play, specifically 
around issues of outreach and highlighting barriers to trust and sharing 
experiences of civic participation projects; 

• Work closely with housing providers and stakeholders in the borough such as 
BHP, Registered housing providers and private sector estate agents to ensure 
that new tenants are signed-up to IER; 

• Integrate IER sign-up into university enrolment based on a model currently being 
used by Manchester City Council as a way of boosting levels of student 
registration; 

• Work closely with Brent Youth Parliament and other youth organisations such as 
‘Bite the Ballot’ to make full use of their services to boost sign-up amongst young 
people in the borough; and 

Page 44



 

7 

 

• There are a number of upcoming Government and Council programmes that 
could generate useful information for the strategy such as landlord licencing in 
Brent and the Government’s imminent ‘right to rent’ scheme. Such developments 
ought to be monitored for any impact on voter registration; and 

• Consider the possibility of lobbying Parliament to introduce legislation similar to 
the US National Voter Registration Act which makes provisions for public bodies 
and other statutory services to register citizens to vote when they come into 
contact with them. 

 
7.0 Background and Policy Context 

 
7.1 IER was initially developed by the last Labour government and was scheduled to be 

implemented in 2015. Since the Coalition government took office in 2010, it has brought 
forward through the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 to be introduced 
in 2014. The transition to IER began in England and Wales in June 2014 and is expected 
to fully replace the Household Electoral Registration system in 2015. 

 
7.2 All electors who are successfully matched will be automatically included in the new 

electoral register which is published on 1 December 2014, written confirmation of 
registration will be sent to those electors who are successfully registered.  

 
7.3 Since the completion of the confirmation dry run, Brent’s Electoral Services team has 

sent out a household inquiry form, which is in effect the equivalent of the traditional 
canvass form to properties where the confirmation dry run has suggested there may be 
residents who are not eligible to vote and/or not currently registered. Following the return 
of the form an invitation to register would have also been sent out to each eligible person 
requesting their date-of-birth and national insurance number. If the invitation is not 
returned, up to two reminder letters may be sent and followed up by household visits, if 
necessary. It remains a civil offence not to return the forms and Electoral Registration 
Officers (EROs) can impose a civil penalty of £80 for not doing so.  

 
7.4 The risk of under-representation due to the shift to IER remains considerable, particularly 

when there is already an unacceptably high level of under-registration in the UK as a 
whole, as of July 2014 the Electoral Commission estimated the figure to be as high as 
7.5 million voters, some 15% of people eligible to vote. 

 
7.5 As well as the confirmation dry run, the Electoral Commission also mandated that local 

authorities cross-reference DWP data with Council Tax databases. Brent was one of the 
local authorities which the Electoral Commission reported as having not done this 
however, having consulted with Electoral Services, this was not undertaken due to IT 
problems and the Commission was subsequently informed. 

 
 

8.0 Emerging Themes from Evidence Taken by the Task Group 
 

8.1 Throughout the course of the task group’s work four recurrent themes emerged from 
which the task group’s recommendations have been drawn – the four themes are as 
follows: 
 

• The need for enhanced civic engagement with the community e.g. improved civic 
education and greater outreach by elected members; 

• The need for a communications strategy characterised by intelligence-led 
targeting of at-risk groups and clear and effective messaging; and 

• The need for more effective use of partners including housing and other non-
statutory partners. 

Page 45



 

8 

 

8.2 Increased engagement through the Community and Voluntary Sector (CVS) 

Brent CVS organisations are often very successful at reaching some of the borough’s 
hardest-to-reach groups and can frequently bring unique benefits to some of our 
communities. For this reason, they are ideally placed to feed in to the IER strategy. 
Officers in Partnerships and Participation suggested that Brent CVS organisations 
could play a threefold role: 

1. Reach those least likely to register: This element of the strategy would 
centre on engaging particular groups of residents through targeted and group-specific 
outreach. It is also hoped that engagement through Brent CVS will help to engender 
trust as independent bodies amongst marginalised groups in the borough. In this 
capacity, CVS organisations will be able to represent particular communities allowing 
them to interface better with the Council.  
 
Given that CVS organisations are embedded in particular communities, they are 
ideally placed to work with the Council to focus and deliver services for the strategy in 
particular neighbourhoods and utilise existing networks of funded projects or places. 
 
2. Highlight barriers to trust: In this capacity, Brent CVS organisations can 
feed into the strategy by advising where resident issues are not resolved and where 
barriers to trust between the Council and Brent’s residents exist. In this capacity, Brent 
CVS organisations are also well placed to lobby the Council and central government 
on issues and gaps in provision. More generally they are likely to reach communities 
that are less likely to engage. 
 
3. Share experiences of civic participation projects: Local CVS 
organisations such as Brent Mencap can use their local knowledge and expertise to 
feed-in relevant information to the IER strategy. Local democracy events may also 
provide an ideal opportunity for such experiences and expertise to be fed into the 
strategy.  

 
8.3 As such, the task group recommends that the Council work closely with CVS  

organisations to  take full advantage of this threefold role that the sector can play, 
both in terms of delivering registration services and in providing information to 
the Council about the outreach strategy. 
 

8.4 The Partnerships and Engagement team can play a key role interfacing with Brent CVS 
organisations across the following: 

 
 

• Neighbourhood and community intelligence networks; 
• Alternative models of engagement and successful projects; 
• Voluntary sector intelligence and networks; 
• Opportunities to work with funded organisations; and 
• Knowledge from funding projects and co-producing services. 

 
8.5 It was also suggested by Tessa Awe of Brent CVS that there may be scope for co-

production of the strategy with representatives from Brent CVS organisations. A full list of 
suggested CVS organisations is included as appendix B to this report and spans three 
key themes: organisations for refugees; Private Rented Sector (PRS) organisations and 
organisations for residents with a disability. The task group further recommends that 
the Council make full use of the above opportunities. 

Page 46



 

9 

 

8.6 Residents with disabilities are also identified as at risk of not registering. Ann O’Neil  the 
Chief Executive of Brent Mencap told the task group: 

“Thirty-three per cent of people with a learning disability in the borough are not 
registered to vote. Two to three percent of Brent’s population of 312,000 people have 
learning difficulties – this is a substantial number of people not on the electoral 
register.”  
 
There are two primary reasons for this; the first is that many people with learning 
disabilities incorrectly believe that they don’t have the legal right to vote. The second is 
the way in which political parties communicate – using complex jargon can make it 
difficult for residents with learning difficulties to engage and understand the issues. In 
addition to this, one in five people in England have low literacy levels and may also find it 
hard to engage for similar reasons. 

 

8.7 As such, the task group makes three recommendations to counteract such 
difficulties. Including that: 

 
• Instructions on the registration form would have to be conveyed in short, 

snappy sentences in a similar fashion as to how we would target the form 
to people for whom English isn’t their first language; 

• The Council develops clear guidelines to inform carers of their civic duties 
regarding those under their care and ensure that they are aware that those 
under their care have the same voting rights as everyone else; and 

• Ensure that polling stations are fully accessible to disabled residents and 
that staff are appropriately trained. 

 
8.8 Regarding the second recommendation above, the guidelines must also inform 

carers that people in both residential and domiciliary care often: 
 

• Need someone else to help them interpret and understand any written 
information. This could include letters, leaflets, flyers, or surveys posted 
through their doors; 

• Need support to fill in any forms, or other requests for information. This 
could be registering to vote, or filling in a ballot paper; 

• Need support to access and find out about information that is of interest to 
them. This could be finding out what a political party thinks about a key 
issue, or what different candidates in an election are saying; and 

• Need support to understand the democratic process and to engage in it. 
This could be contacting their political representatives about something 
that is important to them. 

 
8.9 Carers must ensure that they are providing the right support to help those under their 

care overcome these barriers to civic participation, of which ensuring they sign-up to and 
understand IER is central. 
 

8.10 Although the task group recommends that the above suggestions are factored into 
the  strategy, a high number (79.8%) of residents in A1 social care are on the electoral 
roll based on the DWP matching data.  

Ann O’Neil also made the following suggestions: 

Page 47



 

10 

 

• That the Council prepares an accessible short article and info sheet for inclusion 
in Brent newsletters which could also be distributed via social media; 

• IER could be raised as an issue at Brent Connects forums in the near future; 
• Newsletters could be sent by the Council to tenants and Residents groups, 

including the Multi-faith Forum and other partnership groups; 
• Messages could be placed on Council Transport buses; 
• All voluntary sector groups with grants  or contracts could be mandated to prove 

they were registering clients and include it in their procurement gateway 
questions;  

• Have members attend CVS Annual General Meetings and raise the issue of IER 
at them; 

• Involve Clinical Commissioning Group partners and use their engagement events 
such as the next Health Partners Forum on 19th November; and 

• Place leaflets at Health Centres and GPs and ask community nursing teams to 
hand them out to people who are housebound. 

9.0 Enhanced civic engagement with the community 

Young People 
 

9.1 Young people (16-24) are one of the groups identified as being at risk. Brent youth 
services are currently working with an organisation called ‘Bite the Ballot’ that is aiming 
to boost registration. The Bite the Ballot Community Engagement Officer (CEO) 
programme was created in 2013 with the purpose of placing young and inspirational 
individuals in Councils and Local Authorities to engage, inform and register all young 
people in the area so that they can fully participate in civic life. 
 

9.2 CEOs will engage with individuals and external partners to develop and run activities 
with the aim of encouraging and, ultimately, increasing young peoples’ turnout at 
elections. Candidates to be CEOs are selected on the basis of their passion for change 
and desire to make a difference. Candidates will have to be embedded in their 
communities to take account of differing local characteristics. The CEO will undertake 
the following activities: 

• Have weekly Google hangout meetings with other CEOs to update each other on 
local work and discuss wider objectives; 

• Report and provide feedback on progress and activity on a weekly basis to the 
grassroots team; 

• Represent the organisation and the council in their region and liaise with local 
contacts accordingly; 

• Write a regional section for Bite the Bullet’s monthly newsletter and occasional 
blogs about their work in their area; 

• Visit schools, youth groups and student unions in the area to deliver sessions and 
encourage registration; 

• Develop relationships with local educational establishments and community 
groups; 

• Engage young people on a peer-to-peer basis; 
• Assist the council with their youth outreach work; and 
• Promote their work through Bite the Ballot’s social media channels.   

 

Page 48



 

11 

 

9.3 Working with the CEO, the council will: 
 

• Have direct contact with Bite the Bullet’s grassroots coordinator; 
• Help to select the best candidate via a seat on the interview panel; and 
• Work with Bite the Bullet and the CEO to deliver a work plan, targets and 

objectives for the CEO. 
 

9.4 Nicola Mclean from Brent Youth Services told the task group that working with Bite the 
Ballot, Brent Youth services are planning to: 

 
“Undertake decision/policy-making exercises with young people aimed at illustrating 
the trade-offs that are inherent in policymaking. We will also try to make it clear to 
Brent’s young people that when they don’t vote they do not have a voice – we will 
illustrate this by pointing out that the cuts to public spending have fallen 
disproportionately on young people precisely, because young people vote less.” 

9.5 Nicola Mclean also told the task group that young people involved in the Brent Youth 
Parliament could potentially engage in focus groups to inform the communications 
strategy. Consequently, the task group recommends that the Council work closely 
with Bite the Ballot and Brent youth services to engage with young people. Both in 
voter registration work as well as to help the communications team to develop an 
appropriate approach to reaching young people. Therefore, the task group 
recommends that young people be actively involved in the development of 
communications materials aimed specifically at young people. 

 
Hope not Hate 
 

9.6 Members of the Task Group met with representatives from the anti-racism advocacy 
group ‘Hope not Hate’ (HnH) to discuss voter registration which is part of HnH’s 
national strategy particularly amongst disenfranchised groups. Elisabeth from HnH 
described how working with external partners such as trade unions and faith groups 
had led to a number of successes in the north of England and could, therefore, be 
replicated in London. 
 

9.7 In addition to this, Elisabeth told the task group how HnH had worked closely with 
universities on the University of Manchester campus where they recently signed-up 
over 150 university students on a typical day of canvassing. She also described how 
HnH are planning to canvass with Westminster University (which has a hall of 
residence in Brent) in November. 

 
9.8 Manpreet Singh from HnH, who has been involved in community engagement in 

Brent, told the task group: 

“One of the problems I constantly encounter in Brent is disengagement on the frontline 
and this is a problem as it is people on the frontline who have the power. We need to 
kick-start a campaign focussing on civic engagement in Brent – informing and 
reminding people of the value of civic engagement.”  

9.9 The task group fully endorses and recommends Ms Singh’s suggestion to have 
campaign leaflets translated into other languages and including a QR code1 on 
leaflets to direct people to the website.  

                                                           

1 A code that by read by any imaging device (e.g. a smartphone) which links to further information.  

Page 49



 

12 

 

9.10 When asked by a member of the task group what three things she would like to see 
in Brent, Ms Singh suggested the following: 
 

• Aspirations to be met through positive change in the community; 
• More CVS organisations heading into communities to engage with them; and 
• More community engagement by Council members. 

 
9.11 The task group further recommends that Brent council and elected members 

work closely with HnH to better engage with local CVS organisations and that 
elected members support electoral services to do this. As HnH are planning to 
canvass in the borough, it is also recommended that the Council scope out 
suitable canvassing locations such as Kilburn market or the London Designer 
Outlet shopping centre in Wembley.   

 
Immigration 
 

9.12 New migrants are identified as one of the groups most at risk of not registering; as 
such the task group recommends that we encourage Commonwealth citizens to sign-up 
to IER by incorporating information and forms about IER into a welcome pack. 
 

9.13 The task group also recommends that sign-up to IER be integrated into citizenship 
ceremonies for new citizens. Voter registration could form part of citizenship ceremonies 
as a key aspect of such ceremonies is promising to respect the rights and freedoms of 
the UK. 

 
 

10.0 Develop a formal communications strategy characterised by clear and effective 
messaging  
 

10.1 An effective communications strategy must be at the heart of the IER roll-out 
programme. Moreover, it must also convey the appropriate messages about IER to the 
groups identified as at risk of not registering in the borough.  
 

10.2 The Council needs to target the polling districts identified as either amber or red in 
the confirmation dry run. In giving evidence to the task group on potential tactics, the 
communications teams suggested that broadcast messaging in the form of texts and 
emails, within a given proximity of Red and Amber polling districts, could be an effective 
means of reaching certain groups such as young professionals and other target groups 
who might be otherwise missed. 

 
10.3 Broadcast messaging differs from text messaging in that it does not require specific 

phone numbers but can be sent to all mobile phones within a given area. The broadcast 
messaging service is always available, as the network is not used for other messages 
and only mobile phone operators can send messages. The US-based broadcast 
messaging service ‘Nixle’ which is widely used by a range of law enforcement agencies 
and municipal departments to inform citizens could serve as an example of best practice 
here. This kind of service could be used much more widely by the Council if it is 
successful.  

 
10.4 A further problem encountered by the task group was how to canvass Brent’s 

residents who reside in private, gated developments that are often difficult to access and 
frequently have strict security rules about who can enter. Broadcast messaging could 
help to reach residents in these kinds of properties. It could also help to inform people in 
the PRS who may still be registered at a previous address. 

 

Page 50



 

13 

 

10.5 Communications officers also suggested utilising social media marketing to target 
residents in this kind of housing as well as young people (18-24) who are often more 
technologically aware than our older residents.  

 
10.6 Given the potential for the use of proximity and broadcast messaging, the task 

group recommends that any communications strategy consider these potentially 
powerful tactics as well as social media platforms to reach out to target groups.  

 
10.7 Another issue to take into account is that disillusionment with electoral politics is high; 

consequently, people may not register because they have no desire to vote. However, 
there are a number of other consequences of not being on the register. According to 
both the Electoral Commission and Experian2, the primary consequence of being 
removed from the register is that it can make it difficult to undergo a credit check and, in-
turn, significantly impede an individual’s ability to access financial services including the 
following: 

 
 

• Bank accounts (both current and savings); 
• Mortgages; 
• Mainstream consumer credit; 
• Utility contracts (gas, electricity etc.); 
• Mobile phone and internet contracts; 
• Insurance; 
• Access certain public services such as obtaining a passport; 
• Apply for certain jobs, particularly in financial services; and 
• Rent a property (a credit check is sometimes required in the referencing stage). 

 
Therefore, the task group recommends that any communications strategy makes 
these additional consequences of not being registered clear to encourage 
registration.  

Registration Form 

10.8 Upon examining the registration form that the Council is sending out to residents, 
members decided that some elements of the form could be more straightforward. In 
particular, members believed that it was not immediately obvious that the form still has 
to be returned even if there is no-one in the household that is eligible to vote.  
 

10.9 Therefore, the task group recommends that this is made clearer and that headings 
are kept bold, snappy and straightforward to better communicate with residents. 

 
10.10 Brent is an incredibly diverse borough that has historically been a first point of arrival 

for new migrants. There are potentially large numbers of people in the borough for 
whom English is not their first language. As of the 2011 census3, the main languages 
spoken in Brent are: 

• Gujarati 7.9%; 
• Polish 3.4%; and 
• Arabic 2.7%. 

                                                           

2 Experian, “Credit Report Basics” 

3 Nomis, Local Authority Statistics, Main language by measures 

Page 51



 

14 

 

 
10.11 The task group recommends that key headings on the registration form are also 

written in these languages to ensure that it can be clearly understood by residents for 
whom English is not their first language. 
 

10.12 A further issue raised by the task group was that it is not immediately clear on the 
registration form that identifiers such as a driving licence and passport can be used to 
register as well as an NI number. This has implications for Brent as there are certain 
groups, such as Muslim women and Irish men, among whom large numbers do not 
have an NI number.  
 

10.13 Therefore, the task group recommends that it is made clear on the form that unique 
identifiers other than an NI number can be used to register (see appendix C for 
further information); details about unique identifiers should also be placed on the 
website. In addition to this, it is recommended that the Council places a link on the 
website directing people to the Jobcentre Plus website where they can obtain a NI 
number if they do not have one. 
 
 

 
11.0 More effective use of partners including housing and other non-statutory use 

of partners 

‘Housing’ 

11.1 Officers from Housing met with the task group to discuss the changing nature of   
Brent’s housing need and what impact that might have on voter registration, as well 
as the potential to improve registration through landlord licensing in the PRS.  
 

11.2 Given the demographic trends associated with not signing up to IER, the task group 
has identified a number of partners in the borough who may be ideally placed to feed 
into the IER roll-out programme. As the electoral register ties people to a specific 
address, any effective IER strategy must take into account Brent’s housing context. 
There are a number of housing factors in the borough that present challenges for the 
roll-out of IER: 

 
• High levels of population turnover means people are often registered at the wrong 

address; and 
• Large numbers of people in Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) which often have 

short leases and short-term residents. There is also the potential for overcrowding 
and sub-letting and there could be properties where people are in the UK illegally or 
have overstayed their visa. 

Landlord Licensing 

11.3 The PRS has grown significantly in the last decade, with 32% of residents now in the 
PRS. This is primarily concentrated in the south of the borough but is increasing in 
the north. In order to cope with this increase in the PRS, licensing is being introduced 
from January 2015 which is mandatory for larger HMOs, some smaller HMOs and all 
PRS properties in Wembley Central, Harlesden and Willesden Green. Landlord 
licensing presents a number of opportunities for improving voter registration, 
including: 

 
• A more complete and up-to-date record of PRS housing; 
• Coverage of high-risk properties; 

Page 52



 

15 

 

• Better knowledge of, and contact with landlords; 
• Better informed landlords and the ability to work with them to encourage 

registration; and 
• Encouragement of longer-term tenancies, improved conditions and greater market 

stability. 
 

11.4 The task group recommends that full advantage is taken of the opportunities 
presented by landlord licensing and that the information gleaned from licensing is fed 
directly into the IER strategy. 

‘Right to Rent’ 

11.5 Members of the task group also suggested that the Government’s ‘right to rent’ 
scheme may present opportunities for the Council to gain information about tenants 
and subsequently enable a smoother transition to IER. 

 
11.6 Right to Rent was introduced in September 2014 following the passage of the 

Immigration Act and is to be piloted in the West Midlands as part of a phased 
introduction across the country. The law is intended to stop illegal migrants using 
public services to which they are not legally entitled. It is also hoped that it will make 
it easier for the Home Office to remove people who are in the country illegally.  
 

11.7 Following the Act’s introduction, private landlords will have to check the right of 
prospective tenants to be in the country, failure to do this could lead to landlords 
being fined up to £3,000. Evidence of a person’s identity and citizenship such as a 
passport or biometric data will have to be sought – this is already common practice 
for most private landlords and estate agents, so consequently enforcement should 
not be too much of an issue. 
 

11.8 By legally requiring that landlords obtain evidence of identity and citizenship prior to 
letting to new tenants, we should be able to build up a clearer picture of two of the 
groups most at risk of not signing up to IER and where they are concentrated, these 
are: 

 
• New migrants; and 
• People in the PRS 

 
11.9 A clearer picture of these two groups could subsequently inform a more accurate and 

targeted IER strategy. Therefore the task group recommends that the Council 
monitor the developments around right to rent for any impact it might have on voter 
registration and communication with residents. 

Estate Agents and Private Landlords 

11.10 Francis Henry, from Daniels Estates who have several branches in Brent, was asked 
to give evidence to the task group on the potential role that private landlords and 
estate agents could play in informing residents about IER. He told the task group 
that: 

“Council tax forms are one of the first things we ask new tenants to complete if they 
have not yet done so. We have a checklist of things to do, but electoral registration is 
not on it. We could build IER into a welcome email that we send out to new tenants. I 

Page 53



 

16 

 

think many estate agents would be happy to do this as it would make both them and 
the landlord look professional. Email is the cheapest way of doing this.” 

 
11.11  Therefore, the task group recommends examining the possibility of working with 

estate agents in Brent to incorporate IER registration into their welcome packs 
alongside council tax forms and utility company registration forms etc. 

 
Francis Henry also raised a few issues that might occur once this process commences: 
 
“Overcrowding and agency fees mean that people are more likely to give false 
information on their tenancy agreements as fewer tenants mean fewer fees payable to 
estate agents.”  

11.12 As such, the task group recommends that the Council work with private 
landlords and estate agents to encourage them to keep a closer eye on the 
number of people in their properties and subsequently make this 
information available to the Council. As each tenant pays a certain amount in 
agency fees, estate agents could be incentivised to do this by the prospect of a 
greater sum fees – as residents whom they were not aware of would not be 
paying fees.  
 

11.13  To provide further incentive for private landlords to do this, it may be an idea to 
remind them that from an immigration perspective, landlords are responsible for 
who occupies their property even if they are not signed up to the tenancy 
agreement i.e. a ‘sub-let.’  
 

11.14  In addition to this, encouraging private landlords to register their tenants could be 
further incentivised by highlighting the dangers of identity theft to private landlords 
who do not register their tenants.  
 

11.15  There is also the question of whether estate agents are renting or officially 
managing the property. Francis Henry told the task group that if an estate agent is 
collecting the rent then they are effectively managing the property, but this may 
cause confusion as to who is checking to see if tenants are on the electoral 
register. Consequently, the task group recommends that clear guidelines are 
developed around this issue. 

Brent Housing Partnership (BHP) 

11.16 BHP, Brent Council’s Arms Length Management Organisation, manages the 13,600 
council properties in Brent; BHP has a direct role in encouraging residents to live 
independently whilst providing a range of services such as repairs, collecting rent and 
managing disputes between neighbours. Therefore, they are ideally placed to inform 
their residents about the changes to IER. Freda Owusu from BHP gave evidence to 
the task group and suggested the following possibilities: 
 

• Include IER registration forms in the welcome pack sent out to all new BHP tenants 
welcoming them to their property. To do this BHP require a number of registration 
forms from Electoral Services; 

• BHP publish a quarterly magazine in which they could place an advert informing 
their residents about the changes to voter registration; 

• BHP run resident talkback sessions as well as other consultation forums where they 
could raise the issue; 

Page 54



 

17 

 

• BHP hold resident communication group meetings where they help clients to 
engage civically – this could also be an ideal forum for raising the issue; and 

• A recent restructuring of the customer response team has opened up the 
opportunity to engage residents over the phone which we could potentially 
examine. 
 

11.17 The task group recommends that the above suggestions are adopted. At the 
same time it is recommended that clear guidelines for canvassing BHP 
properties are developed, the names and numbers of tenancy officers obtained 
and confirmation letters provided to canvassers by BHP. BHP have said that 
they are happy to allow canvassing in their properties provided security guidelines 
are adhered to. 

Universities and Colleges 

11.18 Given that young people and people in short-term accommodation are two of the 
groups identified as being at risk of not registering, it has been suggested that high 
number of students will be too. 
 

11.19 Manchester City Council (MCC) has worked with both the University of Manchester 
(UoM) and Manchester Metropolitan University (MMU) in order to make sign-up to 
IER part of their enrolment process. 
 

11.20 This system works well, as many of the same questions required for university 
enrolment are similar to the questions required for sign-up to IER. Whilst this has 
been fully integrated into the enrolment process, it is not compulsory and, as such, 
students can opt out if they wish. 
 

11.21 A major caveat is that IER as part of university enrolment is far easier to do if the 
university has an internal enrolment system. If the university has an external 
enrolment system this cannot be done without the possibility of incurring significant 
costs. For this reason, MCC has had far more success in working with MMU than 
UoM as the former has an internal enrolment process but the latter an external one. 
 

11.22 MCC has covered the costs incurred by universities, as it was established that it 
would be more cost effective to do this than alternative methods of student enrolment 
to IER. MCC is also engaged in a large communications campaign throughout 
Manchester universities utilising leaflets and other forms of communications to inform 
people about the transition to IER. 
 

11.23 Therefore, the task group recommends scoping out whether or not universities 
and other institutions with high numbers of students such as the college of 
North-West London have in-house enrolment processes. If so, a model of IER 
registration could be integrated into enrolment processes in borough based on 
the Manchester model. 

Other Public Services 

11.24 A wider question raised by the task group was the role that public bodies can play in 
registering people with whom they come into contact. 
 

11.25 In the United States the National Voter Registration Act (NVRA) 1993 serves as the 
framework for individual US states’ registration laws. The aim of the Act is to increase 
registration and turnout in US elections. The NVRA does this by mandating that other 

Page 55



 

18 

 

public bodies register people who are unregistered whenever they come into contact 
with them. 
 

11.26 The most common public body to provide registration services under the NVRA in the 
US is the state-level motor vehicle registration and licensing agencies – as such, 
NVRA came to be known as the ‘motor-voter’ law and some 37.1% of registrations in 
the US now come from this. In addition to motor vehicle departments, welfare 
services such as food stamp providers also provide electoral registration services. 
Following the law’s introduction, turnout at elections in Colorado was boosted by 
4.7% in the subsequent four years. 4 
 

11.27 Legislation similar to ‘motor-voter’ in the borough could allow for Brent’s residents to 
be prompted to register when they come into contact with Council services, 
particularly those hard-to-reach groups. This could be extended to encourage 16 year 
olds to register at school. 
 

11.28 Labour have said they will implement a similar system if they win power at the next 
general election.5 Chris Ruane MP, who sits on the cross-party Political and 
Constitutional Reform Committee, told the task group that: 

“This could serve the dual purpose of not only registering people, but also building a 
better demographic profile of those not registered with the potential for developing a 
single cross-service database.” 

 
11.29 In a similar capacity it was also suggested that Brent Customer Services could 

register residents and gather information about them to feed into a single 
database. The task group recommends that Brent Council effectively lobby 
Parliament to introduce legislation similar to the NVRA. 

 
Electoral Services 
 

11.30 Chris Ruane MP told the task group that the ERO in his local council of 
Denbighshire, which has made considerable progress in registering large number 
of previously unregistered eligible voters. In consultation with Sean O’Sullivan, the 
ERO for Denbighshire, Gareth Evans explained how his department had been so 
successful. In addition to doorstep canvassing, Denbighshire Council used data 
sources from within the Council and search for additional data to target potential 
electors. These include the following: 

 
• Council Tax and Housing Benefit data: The Council receives a weekly data 

file from the Revenues Department detailing all home movers and new benefit 
claimants. Using this data has removed the need to work with third sector 
providers as well as social and private landlords, who have a duty to inform of a 
change in tenancies to the council tax department. This allows for Denbighshire 
Council to build up a more accurate picture of their residents in the PRS.  

• Education Records: The Council receives a data file from the education 
department of all 16/17 year olds still in education which are then added to the 

                                                           

4 The Electoral Reform Society (09/12/13) “Electoral Registration – Order and Regulations briefing”, House of 
Lords Grand Committee 

5 Mason, Rowena (20/02/14) “Labour is considering allowing voters to register on election day”, The Guardian 

Page 56



 

19 

 

register as pending electors for a registration form to be sent at the age of 18. 
This allows the Council to ensure that increased numbers of young people are 
registered; and  

• Adult Social Care: The Council has used records held by the Financial 
Assessment Team in Social Services to assist with the verification of electors in 
social care residences if the care is paid for by the local authority. The Council 
receives quarterly lists from the owners of residential social care properties to 
ensure that they are effectively registering people in residential social care. 

 
11.31 The task group recommends that the above methods are considered by 

Electoral Services as a means of working more closely with other 
departments to improve ongoing voter registration. 

 
Appendix A – Postal voters not successfully matched 
 
During the task group, members requested a breakdown of postal voters across Brent who 
were not successfully matched during the confirmation dry run. A total of 2739 postal 
voters were not successfully matched in Brent with the lowest matching wards being Dollis 
Hill where 71 postal voters were not successfully matched and Queens Park where 55 
were not successfully matched. 

The top five polling districts in Brent where postal voters were not successfully matched 
are: 
 
1. Dollis Hill (71) 
2. Queens Park (55) 
3. Mapesbury (52) 
4. Welsh Harp (51) 
5. Brondesbury Park (50) 
 
Appendix B – Relevant CVS Organisations 
 
Organisations for refugees Private rented 

sector (PRS) 
organisations 

Organisations for 
residents with a disability 

• Brent Refugees and Migrants 
Forum 

• Refugees in Effective and 
Active Partnership (REAP) 

• Migrant Refugee Service 
• Salusbury World Refugee 

Centre 
• West London Refugee 

Women's Forum 
• African Cultural Association 
• African Women's Care 
• Albanian Union Mother Teresa 
• Bosnia and Herzegovina 

Community Advice Centre 
• Diaspora UK 
• Education Skills and 

Development Group 

• Advice4Renters  • Da Stage Performing Arts 
& Childcare Club 

• Action For Kids 
• Alice Hoffman Homes Ltd 
• Asian People's Disability 

Alliance 
• Association Of Muslims 

With Disabilities (UK) 
• Black Disabled Peoples 

Association 
• Brent Advocacy Concerns 
• Brent African-Carribean 

Disabled People's 
Association  

• Brent Association Of 
Disabled People 

• Brent Branch Multiple 

Page 57



 

20 

 

Organisations for refugees Private rented 
sector (PRS) 
organisations 

Organisations for 
residents with a disability 

• Foundation For Women's 
Health and Social Care 
Research And Development 

• Help Somalia Foundation 
• Hornstars SC 
• Horumarnta Somali Health and 

Social Care Project 
• Iraqi Centre for Integration and 

Cohesion 
• Iraqi Welfare Association 
• Red Sea Community 

Programme 
• Tamil Association of Brent 
• Tamil Community Housing 

Association 
• West London YMCA 
• Camden Somali Cultural Centre 
• CSCE Consortium & Somali 

Mental Health and Social Care 
Link Project 

• Dayah (The Somali Youth 
Development Programme) 

• Help Somalia Foundation 
• Horumarnta Somali Health and 

Social Care Project 
• North West London Somali Cup 
• Somali Advice and Forum of 

Information (SAAFI) 
• Somali British Families Centre 

Limited 
• Somali Carers Project 
• Somali Employment Rights 

(1116840) 
• Somali Health and Social Care 

& Mental Link Project 
• Stonebridge Somali Centre 
• Community Health and 

Education Support Association 
(COHESA) 

• Jazari Community Centre 
• I Serve - Serving The 

Community 
• Education and Skills 

Development Group (ESDG) 
• Dayah (The Somali Youth 

Development Programme) 
• Brent Somali Community Roots 
• Somali Humanitarian Aid Ltd 

Sclerosis Society 
• Brent Irish Advisory 

Service 
• Brent Mencap 
• Carewatch (Ealing Office) 
• Cyclegreen Community 

Group 
• Cyron Housing Co-

operative 
• Disabled Living 

Foundation 
• Diu Community 
• Enara Community Care 
• Food Chain (The) 
• Harrow Association of 

Disabled People 
• Home Library Service 
• Kensal Rise Senior 

Citizens Luncheon Club 
• Loud And Clear Mental 

Health and Social Care 
Advocacy 

• Mapesbury Dell Trust 
• Mapesbury Jewish Care 
• Middlesex Community 

Service 
• Music Complex 
• New Millenium Day Centre 
• Nu Start Community 

Enterprise 
• Oasis Care and Training 

Agency (OCTA)  
• Preston & Mall Youth 

Community Centre 
• Royal Association for Deaf 

People 
• Royal London Society for 

the Blind 
• Stepping Out 
• Support for Living - My 

Choice 
• Support for Living - 

Supported Housing Brent 
• The Advocacy Project 
• The Disability Foundation 
• The Homecare Partnership 
• Black Disabled People's 

Association 

Page 58



 

21 

 

Organisations for refugees Private rented 
sector (PRS) 
organisations 

Organisations for 
residents with a disability 

• Somali Link & Support Project 
• Somali Management 

Development Centre 
• Somali Youth Development 
• SOS Somalia 
• 4 Bees In Brent 

• Black Women's Mental 
Health and Social Care 
Project 

 
Appendix C – Registration Requirements 
 
In order to register, an individual needs to provide the following documentation: 
 
• NI number; 
• Date of Birth; and 
• Current address. 
 
If an individual does not have an NI number then they can still register however, they will 
not be able to register online and will have to contact their local electoral registration office 
and provide other unique identifiers such as a passport of driving licence. We could 
potentially lobby central government to link NI numbers to work visas in order that an 
individual who obtains a work visa automatically obtains an NI number. 
 
If an individual does not know their date-of-birth then they can provide an approximate age. 
If they do not have a fixed address they can still register using a temporary address by 
making a ‘declaration of a local connection at a local electoral office.  
 
Primary Alternative 
NI number Unique identifier (passport or driving 

licence) 
Date of Birth An approximate age can be provided 

(under 18; 18-70 or over 70) 
Current Address ‘declaration of local connection’ at local 

electoral office 
 
 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Committee 
Forward Plan 2014/15 

 
 
Date of Committee 

 
Agenda items 

 
Responsible officers 

 
Monday 3 November 2014 

 
• Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategy Consultation 

 
 

• Impact of the Overall Benefit Cap in Brent after one year of 
implementation: 
 

• Promoting Electoral Engagement – report from task group 
 

 
Andy Donald, Strategic Director, 
Regeneration and Growth. 
 
David Oats, Head of Revenue and 
Benefits. 
 
 
Chair if Scrutiny Task group  

 
Wednesday 26th November 
2014 

 
• Maternity Services at Northwick Park  
• Progress on response to CQC inspection 
• Proposals for services at Central Middlesex Hospital 

 
• Borough Plan, proposals for partnership structures and 

community engagement activities. 
 

• Update from Budget Scrutiny Panel 

 
North West London Hospital’s Trust and 
CCG. 
 
 
 
Christine Gilbert, Interim Chief Executive. 
 
 
Chair of Budget Panel 

  A
genda Item

 8

P
age 61



 
Date of Committee 

 
Agenda items 

 
Responsible officers 

Tuesday 6 January 2015  
• Safer Brent Partnership – update on progress. 

(request to include specific report on the implementation of 
Prevent) 

 
• Voluntary Sector initiatives 
 
• Report from the Budget Scrutiny Panel 
 
 

 
Borough Commander Met Police 
Christine Gilbert, Chair of Safer Brent 
Partnership 
Chris Williams, Head of Community Safety. 
Ben Spinks, Assistant Chief Executive. 
 
Chair of Task group 
 
. 
 

 
Tuesday 10 February 2015 

 
• Education Commission – 6th month Update on implementation 

of Action Plan 
 

• Update on Working with Families project and children’s social 
care 
 

• Use of Pupil Premium – Task group report 
 
 

 

 
Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People. 
 
 
 
 
Chair of task groups 
 
 

 
Wednesday 11 March 2015 

 
• Customer Access Strategy 
 
• Work programme providers and Job Centre Plus 

 
• Equalities and HR practices 

 
Andy Donald, Strategic Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 
 
 
Cara Davani, Director of HR 

  

P
age 62



 
Date of Committee 

 
Agenda items 

 
Responsible officers 

 
Thursday 30 April 2015 

 
• Annual report of  Scrutiny Committee 
• Sustainability agenda – Recycling,CO2 emissions, cycling, 

congestion and air quality. 

 
Cathy Tyson, Head of Policy and Scrutiny 
Sue Harper, Strategic Director 
Environment and Neighbourhoods.  

 
Tuesday 16 June 2015 

  

 
Wednesday 8 July 2015 

 
 

 
 

 

 

P
age 63



P
age 64

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 October 2014
	5 Employment, Skills and Enterprise Strategy consultation
	1-ESES Consultation Paper - Final_141001

	7 Promoting electoral engagement (IER) task group
	3-Interim Report on Promoting Electoral Registration 031114

	8 Scrutiny Committee forward plan

